
 
 

Goshen Common Council 
6:00 p.m., January 23, 2023  Regular Meeting 

Council Chamber, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, IN 
 
 
Call to Order by Mayor Jeremy Stutsman 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Roll Call:  
Megan Eichorn (District 4)  Julia King (At-Large)  Doug Nisley (District 2) 
Gilberto Pérez, Jr. (District 5)  Donald Riegsecker (District 1)         
Matt Schrock (District 3)  Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large)       
Youth Advisor Karen C. Velazquez Valdes (Non-voting)  
 
 
Approval of Minutes – Regular meetings of Dec. 19, 2022 and Dec. 27, 2022 

 

Approval of Meeting Agenda 

 

Privilege of the Floor 

 

1)  Election of Council President 

 

2)  Designation of Minority Cancellation Contact 

 

3)  Council appointments to City Board and Commissions 

 

4)  Ordinance 5144: Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen Department of 
Stormwater Management (Second Reading) 

 

5)  Resolution 2023-01: Resolution of the Common Council of the City of Goshen approving 
the order of the Goshen Plan Commission (related to the Creation of a New Housing Allocation 
Area within the Southeast Economic Development Area)  



 
 

 

6)  Resolution 2023-02, Approving a Loan to LaCasa of Goshen, Inc. from the Local Major 
Moves Construction Fund  

 

7)  Resolution 2023-03, Acquisition of Real Estate at 1402 West Wilden Avenue  

 

 

Elected Official Reports 

 

Adjournment 



                                                                            

1 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
Minutes of the DECEMBER 19, 2022 Regular Meeting  

Convened in the Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 
 
Mayor Jeremy Stutsman called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mayor Stutsman asked the Clerk-Treasurer to conduct the roll call. 
Present: Megan Eichorn (District 4)  Julia King (At-Large) – arrived at 6:22 p.m. 
 Doug Nisley (District 2)  Donald Riegsecker (District 1) Matt Schrock (District 3)   
 Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large)  
 Youth Advisor Karen C. Velazquez Valdes (Non-voting) 
Absent:  Gilberto Pérez Jr. (District 5) 
 
 
Approval of Minutes: Mayor Stutsman asked the Council’s wishes regarding the minutes of the Dec. 5, 2022 
Regular Meeting. Councilor Eichorn made a motion to approve the minutes of the Dec. 5, 2022 Regular 
Meeting as submitted. Councilor Schrock seconded the motion. The motion passed 5-0 on a voice vote. 
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda: Mayor Stutsman presented the meeting agenda for approval. Councilor Nisley 
moved to approve the agenda as submitted. Councilor Riegsecker seconded the motion. The motion passed 
5-0 on a voice vote. 
 
 
Privilege of the Floor: 
At 6:02 p.m., Mayor Stutsman invited public comments on matters not on the agenda. There were none, so 
the Mayor closed Privilege of the Floor. 
 
 
1)  Recognition of the City of Goshen Redistricting Advisory Commission 
Mayor Stutsman said tonight the Council would honor members of the City of Goshen Redistricting Advisory 
Commission: Bradd Weddell (District 1); David B. Daugherty (District 2); Shawn Miller (District 3); Jenny Murto Clark 
(District 4); and Everett Thomas (District 5). He provided the background of the Commission. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Pursuant to Indiana law, the City of Goshen must be divided into five (5) Council districts during the second 
year after a year in which a federal decennial census is conducted. State law also requires that these five 
districts be contiguous, reasonably compact, and, as nearly as possible, of equal population, and, with some 
specific exceptions, not have boundaries that cross precinct boundaries. 
In January 2022, Mayor Stutsman proposed that the Council establish a non-partisan commission to help 
ensure that redistricting was not based on how the composition of districts affected political parties. 
 



                                                                            

2 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Working with City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann, Mayor Stutsman proposed Ordinance 5116, to establish a 
five-member Redistricting Advisory Commission to make recommendations to the Council regarding its 
redistricting ordinance. Commission members would serve until the Council adopted district boundaries. 
The Mayor said that an independent redistricting commission would lend public legitimacy to the process and 
minimize conflicts of interest that might be present during conventional redistricting. He also said this method of 
redistricting could be conducted in an open manner with opportunities for public engagement. 
As conceived by Mayor Stutsman, Ordinance 5131 would have imposed various qualifications for membership. 
Membership would have been excluded to varies categories of Goshen residents, such as: anyone who 
currently, or during the 10 years prior to the Commission’s formation, held a public office or was a candidate for 
public office in the City or Elkhart County; an appointed public official; anyone who was currently an officer of any 
federal, state, county, or city-level political party, or who has been an officer or active member during the 10 years 
prior to the Commission's formation; a precinct committeeman; a member of a candidate’s committee; anyone who 
has contributed a cumulative total of $2,000 or more to any political candidate(s) within the five years prior to the 
Commission’s formation; anyone registered as a lobbyist; and immediate family members of any excluded person. 
 
Councilors considered Ordinance at their Feb. 7 meeting and again on March 7. At the March 7 meeting, 
Councilors approved 10 amendments to the ordinance, mostly broadening the qualifications of Commission 
membership, and rejected three other amendments. Councilors then unanimously approved Ordinance 5116. 
 
Afterward, the Councilors representing single-member districts appointed the following individuals to the 
City of Goshen Redistricting Advisory Commission: Bradd Weddell (District 1); David B. Daugherty (District 2); 
Shawn Miller (District 3); Jenny Murto Clark (District 4); and Everett Thomas (District 5). Also serving on the 
Commission were five non-voting members: Mayor Jeremy Stutsman, Council President Brett Weddell and Councilor 
Julia King, both at-large Council members, City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann and Clerk-Treasurer Richard R. Aguirre. 
 
The Redistricting Advisory Commission met on June 3, June 17, June 30 and July 15, 2022. Commissioners 
conducted research and engaged in extensive discussions about possible redistricting plans. 
Ultimately, Commissioners decided, by a 4-1 margin, to make Option 3 the Commission’s number one 
redistricting recommendation to the City Council and Option 4 the secondary recommendation. Clark, 
Daugherty, Miller, and Weddell voted “yes” and Commissioner Thomas voted “no.” on this motion. 
 
Ordinance 5131, which was presented to the Council on July 18, 2022, would establish Common Council 
districts for the City of Goshen based on the redistricting option approved by the Redistricting Commission. 
On July 18, Councilors held a public hearing on Ordinance 5131 and approved amending Ordinance 5131, to 
add Option 4 for consideration in addition to Option 3, by a 6-0 margin. On a second voice vote, Councilors 
tabled Ordinance 5131, with all Councilors present voting “yes.” Councilor Perez was ill and not present. 
 
At their Aug. 1 meeting, Common Council members extensively discussed and unanimously approved Option 
3, which was the recommendation of the appointed Redistricting Advisory Commission on First Reading. 
There was not unanimous consent by Councilors to proceed with a second reading, so Mayor Stutsman said the 
Second Reading of Ordinance 5131 would take place at the next Council meeting, on Aug. 15, 2022. 



                                                                            

3 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
On Aug. 15, 2022 Councilors voted unanimously to amend Ordinance 5131 by substituting the current map of 
the districts with the new corrected map. After further discussion and public comments, Councilors unanimously 
passed Ordinance 5131 on Second (and final) Reading by a 7-0 margin. Councilors also praised 
Commissioners for their work. 
 
RECOGNITION OF REDISTRICTING ADVISORY COMMISSION ON DEC. 19, 2022: 
Mayor Stutsman invited the Councilors who appointed the five Redistricting Advisory Commission members to 
present certificates of recognition and offer appropriate remarks. 
Because Councilor Pérez was not present, Mayor Stutsman presented a certificate to Everett Thomas (District 5). 
He expressed his appreciation to Thomas, who served for 24 years as a Council member. 
Councilor Eichorn said that her commission appointee, Jenny Murto Clark (District 4), could not attend the 
meeting. She said Clark works for Goshen Community Schools and was a great asset to the commission. 
Councilor Nisley said that his appointee, David B. Daugherty (District 2), also could not be present. Council Nisley 
thanked Daugherty, who retired in 2017 as president of the Goshen Chamber of Commerce. He added that the entire 
commission did a great job.  
Councilor Riegsecker presented a certificate of appreciation to his appointee, Bradd Weddell (District 1), the 
president of the Goshen Community Schools Board. Weddell served as chair of the commission and handled a lot of 
the software and spreadsheets that were used to create new district boundaries and did the same for the school 
board. He thanked Weddell. Mayor Stutsman added that Weddell invested a significant amount of time in the effort. 
Councilor Schrock gave a certificate to Shawn Miller, a deputy fire chief for the Concord Township Fire 
Department. He said he appointed Miller “because he’s a straight shooter and tells it like it is” and that he was a good 
choice. 
Council President Weddell thanked commission members and City staff for their work and acknowledged the 
contribution of Elkhart County Clerk Christopher Anderson. He said the group’s work will serve Goshen for the 
next decade, which is why it was an important group. He said that compared to the last redistricting process, the 
process this year was very smooth and commissioners worked together well. Council President Weddell said the 
Council approved the commission’s redistricting recommendation with little discussion. He thanked the Mayor for 
suggesting the redistricting commission and to Councilors for their appointees. 
Mayor Stutsman again thanked the commission members. 
 
 
2)  Presentation: Report on Clerk-Treasurer Office operations (Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre) 
Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre said he was providing Councilors with an overview of the activities and 
accomplishments of the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office since he was sworn into office, July 8, 2021. He said he was 
doing this because he believed it was important to be accountable to the public through periodic reporting. 
Aguirre read from a four-page document (EXHIBIT #1) 
Aguirre said in 2021 he became Goshen’s fourth Clerk-Treasurer in five years. Tina Bontrager was Clerk-
Treasurer for 13 years – from January 2004 to December 2016, when she left to become County Treasurer. Angie 
McKee was elected by the Republican Party caucus in January 2017 and served until December 2019. And former 
Councilor Adam Scharf was elected Clerk-Treasurer three years ago and served until he resigned, effective June 
18, 2021. Aguirre said that constituted a lot of change for the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office. 



                                                                            

4 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Aguirre said it was “challenging and rewarding to become part of a government that puts residents first. Following 
the example of Goshen’s many servant leaders, he said he has sought to deliver “excellent public service, increase 
accountability for public funds, improve operations and promote openness.”  
Aguirre acknowledged the contributions of his staff: Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver; Payroll 
Administrator Cindy Fee and Payroll Assistant Peggy Votava; Grants Manager Greg Imbur; Accounts Payable 
Clerk Rhonda Peacock; Accounts Payable Assistant and Records Clerk Jean Nisley and Accounts 
Receivable Clerk Erin Fowler. He also thanked the other dedicated City employees who serve Goshen residents.  
Aguirre said the Clerk-Treasurer is the City’s chief fiscal and public records officer and listed the C-T’s primary 
duties: manage financial accounts; process receipts and expenditures; prepare budgets and revenue estimates; 
make banking and investment decisions for the City; oversee payroll and the payment of employee benefits; manage 
and maintain records and documents of City operations; and staff the Common Council and the Board of Works & 
Safety. He explained what he does on a more practical basis. 
He said his lesser known duties included: acting as the custodian of the official City Seal; serving on the Police 
Pension Board, which evaluates and hires police officers; overseeing audits by the State Board of Accounts; signing 
cemetery plot certificates; and having the authority to marry people, which he has done twice. 
 
Aguirre cited the following as the major accomplishments of the office since July 2021: 

• Restored stability to the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office after the abrupt departure of an elected Clerk-
Treasurer. In addition, a beloved staff member died, there was another staff transition and two staff 
members have had long illnesses this year. Still, the staff has persevered and gotten the work done. 

• Instead of hiring without any process or staff involvement, as some previous Clerk-Treasurers did, Aguirre 
said he worked closely with the Human Resource Manager and established an orderly hiring process. 
He established two hiring committees with staff to review applications, interview applicants, rank the 
candidates, check backgrounds and decide whom to employ. The outcome: Better hires and staff morale. 

• Developed superb working relationships with the Mayor, Councilors and City Departments. 
• Delivered courteous and timely customer service to the public and City staff. City Hall visitors are 

greeted warmly and helped. Calls are answered. And emails are returned, almost always the same day. 
• Under the leadership of Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver, the Office provides reliable 

information to help the Mayor and Department Heads develop the budget and manage day-today 
expenditures. Aguirre said Weaver cheerfully gives advice, keeps the books, reconciles our bank accounts 
and provides City staff with the information needed for good decisions and accountability. 

• Working with the Mayor, City Attorney and Building Commissioner, the Clerk-Treasurer helped streamlined 
the process of contractors getting electrical/mechanical licenses. That’s saved them time.  

• In a weeks-long process that engaged hundreds of City residents, the office helped coordinate the very 
successful sealed-bid auction for surplus vehicles and equipment. 

• Improved our grants application and compliance processes. This enabled the office to successfully 
close out a federal audit that lasted two years. 

• Contracted with a company that conducted a comprehensive review of City cell phone services. 
Their recommendations are helping the City save $32,307 a year. 

• Coordinated two successful audits by the State Board of Accounts. Auditors reviewed records across 
the City and asked office staff seemingly endless questions. Both audits went very well. 



                                                                            

5 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
• Agendas and minutes of Council and Board of Works meetings are more detailed, helpful and 

promptly available online to the public. The office is no longer months behind. 
•  In the coming year, the office will be consolidating most of its City records in a single City building. 

This will allow staff members to better access records, help ensure their security and make it easier to 
dispose of older unneeded records. 

• Also in 2023, and building on the foundation laid by Adam Scharf, staff will continue to implement a new 
time and attendance system for payroll that will be more accurate, efficient and save money. Police, 
Fire and Parks and Recreation departments already use the Right Stuff payroll system. 

• Finally, over the past year, Aguirre said he led a team, assisted by Baker Tilly, that negotiated a new 
banking services agreement with a strong regional bank connected to the community. Compared to 
the City’s previous agreement with Interra Credit Union, the two-year agreement with 1st Source Bank 
will provide better banking services with lower monthly fees. 
In addition, all accounts are earning an interest rate of the Federal Funds Effective Rate (H.15) plus 20 
basis points. That’s much higher than Interra offered. What does that mean? The current high federal 
interest rates inevitably will go down. But right now, they’re quite favorable. 
As of August 2022, on the roughly $55.2 million the City maintain in our 1st Source bank accounts, the City 
will have net monthly earnings of just under $114,000 a month, which translates into net annualized 
earnings of about $1.3 million.  
Because fed rates have increased a few times since August and are expected to rise some more in 2023, 
the City’s return will be even higher. That’s compared to the $30,000 Interra offered to renew the City’s 
agreement a year ago. While the federal interest rate is variable and it will eventually go down, until it does 
(and that could be another year), the City will have more money that can be invested or spent for City 
services to benefit residents. 

 
Aguirre also said, “These are accomplishments of the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office working as a team with 
support from Mayor Stutsman, the Council and City employees. And together, we’ve promoted financial 
accountability, efficiency, integrity and openness.” He concluded by stating that he tries to live by and model 
the following words: “Keep calm and carry on.” 
 
Mayor Stutsman thanked Aguirre and asked if Councilors had any comments or questions. 
Councilor Eichorn thanked Aguirre “for your detailed information on what you do every day and your great work. I’m 
glad you been brought in to do this job.” 
Council President Weddell asked how often the City renegotiates with banks and whether the City had been with 
the same bank for a long time. Aguirre said the City was with Chase and then with Interra for four years, with the last 
being a two-year renewal with the same terms. 
Aguirre said the City was offered another two-year renewal by Interra a year ago, but he didn’t feel good about the 
offer and didn’t think Interra was offering enough flexibility or high enough interest rates on the City’s funds. So, he 
said the City issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) and six banks responded. In response to a question from 
Council President Weddell, Aguirre said the City now has a two-year agreement with 1st Source Bank. 
 
 



                                                                            

6 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Aguirre also said that the City engaged in long and difficult negotiations with 1st Source Bank. He said that City 
Attorney Bodie Stegelmann was especially tenacious and resisted proposed terms that he didn’t consider 
acceptable to the City. Aguirre said 1st Source officials stated that no entity had stuck to such a hard bargaining 
position as the City of Goshen. He added that Stegelmann held out for what he thought was fair to the City. 
Councilor Matt Schrock said, “I just want to say thanks, Richard, for all you’ve done and for your kind words of 
support in the time that you’ve been here, so nice job.” Aguirre thanked Councilor Schrock for his comments. 
Mayor Stutsman thanked Aguirre and added, “I can vouch for the City staff that it has been great to work with him 
as he’s done the job in the last year and a half.”  
 
Mayor Stutsman asked that the record reflect that Councilor King was now present, at 6:22 p.m. 
 
 
3)  Ordinance No. 5147: Establishing Various Fees and Parking Regulations Regarding City Owned Electric 
Vehicle Charging Station (Second Reading) 
Mayor Stutsman called for the introduction of Ordinance 5147, Establishing Various Fees and Parking 
Regulations Regarding City Owned Electric Vehicle Charging Stations on Second Reading. Council 
President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5147 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Schrock moved to approve Ordinance 5147 on Second Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Ordinance 5147 would establish various fees and parking regulations regarding City-owned electric vehicle charging 
stations. According to a memorandum by Assistant City Attorney Matt Lawson: 
“Section 1 of the Ordinance deals with the “Spaces Designated for Electric Vehicle Charging” and amends the 
current parking prohibitions set forth in Goshen City Code §4.4.1.1 by adding a seventh item to the current list providing:  
(7) In a parking space designated for electric vehicle charging unless the vehicle is capable of be charged by the 
charging equipment available for such parking space and the vehicle is engaged in the charging process. 
§4.4.1.1(7) can be enforced through the existing structure for parking violations. 
“Section 2 of the Ordinance adds an entirely new section (§4.4.1.12) to Goshen’s current parking code and establishes 
a “Fee for Use of City-Owned Electric Vehicle Charging Stations.” 
Section 2 establishes a flat hourly rate of $1.17 per hour for the first four (4) hours of active charging at a City-owned 
charging station and creates an additional parking fee of $3.83 per hour, in addition to the $1.17 (for a total of $5 per 
hour) after the first four (4) hours. A four (4) hour timeframe has been established to facilitate the turnover needed for 
greater access and usage of City-owned charging stations.  
“As a condition of the City’s application for the grant funding that was used to obtain the City’s electric vehicle charging 
station located in the City of Goshen parking lot south of Lincoln Avenue and east of Water Street, the City agreed to 
provide the first 2 hours of charging at this grant-supported charging station (only) at no cost to users for the first 2 
years after its installation. 
“As such, Section 2 of the Ordinance also establishes a separate fee for the one grant funded charging station located 
in the City of Goshen. Specifically, after the first two (2) hours of free charging, the Ordinance establishes a flat hourly 
rate of $1.17 per hour plus an additional parking fee of $1.83 (for a total of $3 per hour) for each hour after the two (2) 
free hours. 



                                                                            

7 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
“The fees established by the Ordinance comply with Indiana Code §36-1-3-8(a)(6) which requires any charge 
established by the City to be reasonably related to reasonable and just rates and charges for the electric vehicle 
charging services provided by the City of Goshen.” 
On Dec. 5, the Common Council convened a public hearing on Ordinance 5147 and engaged in extensive 
discussion about the ordinance. Mayor Stutsman and all Councilors commented about the ordinance and heard 
from City Director of Environmental Resilience Aaron Sawatsky Kingsley and Leah Thill of South Bend, a 
senior environmental planner for the Michiana Area Council of Governments (MACOG) and Myron Yoder, a 
member of the audience. 
Eventually, Councilors approved Ordinance 5147, Establishing Various Fees and Parking Regulations Regarding 
City Owned Electric Vehicle Charging Stations on First Reading, on First Reading by a 7-0 margin, with all 
Councilors voting “yes.” Because there was not unanimous Council consent to proceed, Mayor Stutsman tabled 
the Second Reading of Ordinance 5147 to the Council’s next scheduled meeting, on Dec. 19, 2022. 
 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION AND FINAL PASSAGE OF ORDINANCE 5147 ON DEC. 19, 2022: 
Mayor Stutsman briefly provided the background of Ordinance 5147, including the council’s First Reading approval of 
it on Dec. 5. He noted that Councilor Nisley declined to give unanimous consent to proceed to Second Reading of 
the ordinance on Dec. 5 and asked if he had met with staff and resolved the questions he had with the ordinance.  
Councilor Nisley said he didn’t as much have questions as he wanted to express his concern about making sure 
people who used the EV stations would be charged appropriately and that the Council would eventually re-examine 
the issue. 
Mayor Stutsman said he understood. He noted that City Director of Environmental Resilience Aaron Sawatsky 
Kingsley and Theresa Sailor, Grant Writer and Educator for the City Environmental Resilience Department, 
were present along with Leah Thill of South Bend, a senior environmental planner for the Michiana Area Council 
of Governments (MACOG). 
 
There were no further Council questions or comments, so Mayor Stutsman asked, at 6:24 p.m., if there were 
any public comments on Ordinance 5147. There were none. 
There was no further Council discussion and Council President Weddell indicated that Councilors were ready 
to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors approved 5147, Establishing Various Fees and Parking Regulations Regarding 
City Owned Electric Vehicle Charging Stations, on Second (and final) Reading by a 6-0 margin, with all 
Councilors present voting “yes” at 6:24 p.m. Youth Advisor Velasquez Valdes also voted “yes.” 
 
 
4)  Ordinance 5144: Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen Department of Stormwater 
Management (Public hearing and First, Second Reading) 
 
At 6:25 p.m., Mayor Stutsman convened a public hearing on Ordinance 5144: Revision of Stormwater User 
Fees for the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management. 
He invited public comments. There were none, so the Mayor closed the public hearing. 



                                                                            

8 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Stutsman then called for the introduction of Ordinance 5144, Revision of Stormwater User Fees for 
the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to 
read Ordinance 5144 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Eichorn moved to approve Ordinance 5144 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
In a memorandum to the Council, City Stormwater Coordinator Jason Kauffman explained that earlier this year, 
the Greater Elkhart County Stormwater Partnership, composed of the City of Elkhart, the City of Goshen, Elkhart 
County, and the Town of Bristol (the partners), agreed that a review of the stormwater user fee was necessary. 
Baker Tilly US, LLP was retained to perform a rate analysis to determine whether the minimum funding amount 
necessary for the operation and maintenance of the stormwater system was being collected since the stormwater 
user fee was established in 2006 and had not been increased.  
Upon completion of the rate study, Baker Tilly concluded the minimum rate should be increased from $15 
per equivalent residential unit (ERU) to $36.10 per ERU annually. The Partnership's Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer System (MS4) Advisory Board met on Nov. 17, 2022, and agreed to recommend that the user fee be 
increased over three phrases as follows: $22.05 per year per ERU starting with billing in calendar year 2023; 
$29.10 per year per ERU starting with billing in calendar year 2026; and $36.10 per year per ERU starting with 
billing in calendar year 2029. 
On Nov. 21, 2022, the City Stormwater Board held a public hearing on the proposed rate increase and then 
unanimously approved Resolution 2022-01, allowing for and recommending the current  stormwater user fee 
to be revised to the proposed rate over three phases. After adoption of Resolution 2022-01 an amended 
ordinance was prepared to be taken to the Goshen Common Council for discussion and a vote on either Dec. 19. 
If passed, Ordinance 5144 would take effect Feb. 1, 2023 as long as similar ordinances with the same rate 
increase were approved by the Elkhart County Commissioners, Elkhart County Council, the Town of Bristol 
and the City of Elkhart. 
 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION AND PASSAGE OF ORDINANCE 5144 ON DEC. 19, 2022: 
Mayor Stutsman said the City of Goshen is part of a regional stormwater group that has maintained 
stormwater user fees at the same rate. He invited comments from City Stormwater Coordinator Jason 
Kauffman, who thanked Councilors for the opportunity to discuss the proposed stormwater fee ordinance. 
 
Kauffman said Goshen is a “stormwater community” as classified through legislation than came out of the federal 
Clean Water Act and the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System Program. He said under phase 2, Goshen 
became a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) community, which required the City to manage 
stormwater runoff. He said through that program, Goshen is tasked with implementing six minimal control 
measures, which are: public education and outreach, public participation and involvement, illicit discharge detection 
and elimination, construction site stormwater runoff control, post-construction stormwater runoff control, and 
municipal operations pollution prevention and good housekeeping. 
 
Kauffman continued his remarks with the use of a 22-slide PowerPoint titled presentation titled “Stormwater 
User Fee Ordinance” and dated Dec. 19, 2022. (EXHIBIT #2). The PowerPoint presentation provided the 
background, context and justification for the proposed stormwater fee increase. Kauffman also distributed to 
Councilors a four-page memorandum and five pages of supplemental information (EXHIBIT #3). 



                                                                            

9 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
City Stormwater Coordinator Kauffman said the more hard surfaces are created in Goshen with, for example, 
streets, sidewalks and parking lots, the more stormwater runoff occurs. In Goshen, he said 30-50% of the City 
has impermeable surfaces. As rainwater falls and snow melts, he said the water falling on hard surfaces cannot 
sink into the soil and flows into the stormwater system and into local waterways. 
The greater the stormwater runoff, Kauffman said, the more the City must find ways to control it and deal 
with its consequences. For example, he said stormwater runoff is the only growing source of water pollution today 
in the form of street runoff containing soils, trash, and pet and yard waste. He displayed photos showing trash and 
debris that had flowed into local waterways. 
 
Kauffman said the City Stormwater Department and a stormwater user fee were established in 2006 to pay for 
system improvements. He said the current rate is $1.25 a month or $15 a year per equivalent residential unit 
(ERU) of 3,600 square feet. He said the fee in Elkhart County is well below the state average stormwater fee of 
$5.74 per month or $68.88 a year. He said the fee brought in $551,561.39 to the City of Goshen, for 2022 ERUs 
of 36,480.60 (4.71 square miles of Goshen’s 17.58 square miles of hard surface). 
 
Kauffman said over the years the City has been able to hire staff as well as fund the six minimal control 
measures, including public education and outreach, public participation and involvement, illicit discharge detection 
and elimination, construction site stormwater runoff control, post-construction stormwater runoff control, and 
municipal operations pollution prevention and good housekeeping. 
Kauffman said the City also has been able to implement a number of projects to improve stormwater 
drainage, although not all with stormwater fees. He said many funds for stormwater improvements have 
come from the Redevelopment Commission and from the City budget. These projects have included the two-
stage Horn Ditch improvement, which reduced potential flood damage to RV plants. He said this improvement was 
funded by redevelopment funds and private contributions – and no stormwater user fees. 
Another project moving forward with redevelopment funds, and no stormwater user fees, are stormwater 
infrastructure improvements in the East College Avenue Industrial Park. Kauffman said this work will help 
manage runoff coming across that area and into Rock Run Creek. He also said the Steury and Lincoln Avenue 
Detention Basin, which was installed several years ago, is helping manage runoff before it reaches Rock Run Creek 
and harms those who live downstream. 
 
Kauffman introduced Jeffrey P. Rowe, a partner with Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, who helped complete a 
rate study of the stormwater fees and who provided Councilors with an overview of the findings. 
Rowe said Baker Tilly was contracted by the Greater Elkhart County Stormwater Partnership to prepare a rate study. 
He said the process involved a review of the history of the fees and their performance in terms of revenue and 
expenditures, as well as the cash position of the partners and future operating expenses and capital projects. 
Rowe said that when the partnership was created, the decision was made to have the same stormwater fees for all 
of partners. He said it’s been 16 years since the fee was adopted with no adjustment despite the increase in costs. 
He compared the revenue and expenditures for each of the partners in the past three years.  
Rowe said as of the end of 2021, the City had $1.871, 926 in the stormwater fund, but the study concluded that the 
City faces a substantial funding shortfall in the coming years. Overall, Rowe said the partnership is generating 
about $2.6 million in stormwater fees, but actually needs $6.3 million to pay for annual operating costs and 
capital projects. So, an additional $3.7 million is needed and a rate increase was recommended, he said. 
 
 



                                                                            

10 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Rowe said the partners decided to recommend increasing the fees three phases – $22.05 per year per ERU 
starting with billing in calendar year 2023; $29.10 per year per ERU starting with billing in calendar year 2026; 
and $36.10 per year per ERU starting with billing in calendar year 2029. 
At present, Rowe said the Greater Elkhart County Stormwater Partnership has one of the lowest stormwater 
fees in the state. Even if it was raised immediately to $3 per month, Rowe said the local partnership would still be 
below the statewide average. He added that since the rate study was completed, several communities have already 
increased their stormwater fees. 
Mayor Stutsman emphasized that the Greater Elkhart County Stormwater Partnership’s proposed rate for 2029 
would still be lower than the 2021 state average stormwater fee, and many fees will soon be increasing. He said the 
proposed rate increase was recommended by the partnership’s advisory board, so all entities have supported the 
increase through their staff members or representatives. He said a “no” vote by Councilors tonight would kill the 
fee increase for the entire partnership while a “yes” vote would allow the approval process to continue. 
 
Thus far, the Mayor said Elkhart County Commissioners approved the rate increase by a 2-1 vote and the Elkhart 
County Council has tabled the proposal pending action by the other entities. The Bristol Town Council approved the 
proposal, but with different rates pending approval by the county. Mayor Stutsman added that if the Goshen Council 
approved the higher fees, but the county voted them down, no further action would be necessary because approval by 
all partners is necessary for the higher fees to take effect. 
Council President Weddell asked the status of action on the fees by the City of Elkhart. City Stormwater 
Coordinator Kauffman said the Elkhart Council is expected to consider the higher fees in early January.  
 
Kauffman said additional funding would allow the City to pay for more projects, including maintenance for the 
stormwater conveyance system, employee and public education, new equipment (including new street sweepers) and 
investments to address drainage issues as well as provide for more water monitoring. He said the major priority will be 
more projects to improve drainage and prevent flooding, especially in areas of future construction. 
 
Councilor King thanked Kauffman for his thorough work and explanations. She also asked why officials in Columbia 
City have been willing to increase the City’s stormwater fee to $9.15 a month. Rowe responded that Columbia City 
was an outlier and appeared to be repaying bond debt for projects through higher fees. 
Mayor Stutsman said no elected official likes to raise fees; but the reality is that costs continue rising and projects 
need to be completed and project lists are growing longer. He said that’s where the City of Goshen is at now. 
Councilor Eichorn said flooding continues to get worse. Councilor King added, “And we can expect more rain and 
storm events.” 
Councilor Riegsecker told Kauffman he appreciated him and his team providing additional information to Councilors 
about the proposed fee increase. He said the rate study was “subjective.” He said that a review of the project list 
included projects that couldn’t be completed without funds from redevelopment. 
City Director of Public Works & Utilities Dustin Sailor responded that the City identifies projects that are 
necessary and then figures out the funding for them. He said redevelopment has been the major contributor for 
stormwater improvements. He said the City also uses Civil City funds and the Council yearly approves a sewer 
capital fund. Also, Economic Development Income Tax funds are used to fund projects. 
Sailor said the City has been unable to complete many capital projects without redevelopment funds. He added that 
projects that fall outside those eligible to be completed with redevelopment funds have “languished” for years. 



                                                                            

11 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Riegsecker said the point he was making was that when the City evaluates projects that are needed, certain 
ones are eliminated due to funding reasons. So the list, he said, doesn’t reflect the actual projects that are needed. 
Sailor said City’s project list shows the projects that are “intended.”  However, without additional funding, major capital 
projects will continue to be delayed for years. Riegsecker said he understood and agreed with that assessment, adding 
if that additional funds were available, the project list would be longer. 
Mayor Stutsman said if the City listed all of the projects it would like to do in the capital plan, it would change the rate 
study drastically. He said the City worked with the other partners to present a rate proposal that would be more 
reasonable for all the taxpayers. 
Councilor Riegsecker, City Stormwater Coordinator Kauffman and Mayor Stutsman further commented on the 
City’s need for stormwater funding and how those needs could be met while the City pursues unrelated projects.  
Speaking as a Redevelopment Commission member, Council President Weddell said he is glad the commission has 
been able to be a partner on a significant number of stormwater projects. He said those projects have been vital for 
redevelopment in those areas. At the same time, if stormwater fees can pay for more projects, he said redevelopment 
funds can be freed up to use for other projects elsewhere. 
Councilor King said she appreciated the “clarity” of paying for stormwater projects with stormwater funds rather than 
from various sources. She said that was easier for taxpayers to follow. Councilor Eichorn agreed. 
Mayor Stutsman said the two-stage Horn Ditch improvement also was paid for with donations from some neighboring 
manufacturers. However, he said that option isn’t always available. 
Council President Weddell said that in regards to the breakdown that was provided of the stormwater funding from 
agricultural, commercial, residential and tax-exempt properties, many of the latter properties are not exempt from 
paying the stormwater fees. He said some of the property tax-exempt entities, such as the hospital, have some of the 
most paved surfaces, so if they are not paying property taxes, the stormwater fees are one way they can pay for the 
impact of having so many paved surfaces.  
 
Mayor Stutsman asked Councilors if they had any other questions or comments about Ordinance 5144. There 
were none. So, at 7:15 p.m., Mayor Stutsman invited public comments on Ordinance 5144. 
 
Glenn Null of Goshen discussed Ordinance 4624, which the Council adopted in 2010. He said the fee has been 
“progressing.” He said he has been complaining about his situation for many years. Null said he is paying $15 a year 
to have the City dump water on his property. He said he and every resident should appeal the fee, causing it to be 
discontinued. Null objected to the proposed stormwater fee increase, adding that smaller projects have been ignored. 
Pamela Weishaupt of Goshen asked if residential water rates were higher than industrial rates. 
Mayor Stutsman said the City had a tiered system of water rates. City Director of Public Works & Utilities Sailor 
said the City has a tiered system based on consumption, will all users paying the same rates for the first tier. 
Weishaupt asked if stormwater fees would be treated differently with residential and industrial property owners paying 
the same fees. Sailor said all will pay the same equivalent fees based on their amount of paved surfaces. 
Weishaupt asked if some entities that don’t pay taxes also pay stormwater fees. Council President Weddell said that 
property tax-exempt properties, such as Greencroft Communities, Goshen High School and Goshen Hospital, don’t 
pay property taxes, but are required to pay stormwater fees. Weishaupt said that was good. 
 
There were no further requests to speak, so at 7:21 p.m., Mayor Stutsman closed the public comment period. 



                                                                            

12 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Schrock asked if it was true that no property owner is exempt from paying stormwater fees. Mayor 
Stutsman said that was correct. 
Councilor Eichorn said over the past year Councilors have heard presentations from City staff about the increasing 
need for Councilors to look to the future and how the climate is changing and the increased flooding. She said the City 
needs to respond to this reality and the current fee needs to be raised. She also said she was sympathetic to Null and 
other residents who routinely deal with flooding, but the completion of more projects could alleviate those problems. 
Councilor Eichorn said she supported the increased fee and hoped residents didn’t view it as just another way to tax  
them and instead viewed it as a way to take care of the City in a way that is necessary. 
Mayor Stutsman said he understood Null’s frustration. He said his home gets rain and water from Wilson and Jackson 
streets and that when there are heavy rainfall, it affects his basement. He said the City hoped to address the Wilson 
Avenue situation in 2023 or 2024, but because of rising costs, a solution likely will be delayed until 2026 or 2027. He 
said projects are being similarly affected throughout the City and more funds are needed. 
Councilor Nisley said this was a hard issue for him and that he was probably on the other side from other Councilors 
on how to vote. He said he couldn’t vote to raise stormwater fees because of current economic conditions. He said 
some constituents have spoken to him and told him they are having trouble paying for their groceries or utilities and 
they oppose a higher fee. Councilor Nisley said the higher fee likely wouldn’t bother anyone in the Council Chamber, 
“but it is the small guy that we have to start looking after and making sure that we’re taking care of them, too.” He added 
the proposed projects were good, but this wasn’t the time to raise the stormwater fees. 
Mayor Stutsman asked if Councilor Nisley would have voted for higher stormwater fees during the summer when 
the economy was doing well and nobody anticipated a downturn. Councilor Nisley responded that some people 
believed the economy was in decline during the summer. 
Mayor Stutsman asked if Councilor Nisley would have supported the fee increase before an economic slowdown was 
anticipated. Councilor Nisley said a few years ago perhaps he would have and maybe he could support an increase 
next year or the year if the economy improves and people are back at work and doing better. However, he said at this 
time, when people are struggling to buy groceries, “it’s just hard for me to raise the fee.” 
Councilor King said she appreciated Councilor Nisley’s concern about raising fees. However, she said she would 
also echo Councilor Eichorn’s comments that the relatively modest stormwater fee increases “are intended to help 
everyone, including the little person who may have drainage issues and stormwater-related issues. So, that’s why I’m 
just remembering that these are communal dollars to help a shared problem and that’s kind of what we’re here for. 
And, as well, economic issues also affect the City’s ability to purchase equipment and pay people as well, so I feel like 
this is an appropriate fee.” 
Mayor Stutsman said, “I don’t think any of us wants to do this. It’s not about wanting to raise the fee, but it’s about 
being in a position I think we’ve proven the case we need to.” 
 
Councilor Riegsecker said Councilors were provided a lot of information, so he wanted to speak for a while and 
provide his perspective. He said he would be speaking from his notes. 
Councilor Riegsecker acknowledged the Mayor’s comment that no one likes to raise fees and that some people are 
struggling because of the current economic conditions. He said that if one strictly examined the issue by evaluating the 
Consumer Price Index and inflation factor, the stormwater fee would be increased from $15 to $22.17 this year. He 
said the City didn’t take into consideration all those years in which inflation increased, even without considering the 
cost of fuel increases and changes in the way the fee was determined that benefited some property owners. 



                                                                            

13 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Riegsecker said he examined the rates and determined that a $15 annual fee works out to 4 cents a day. 
The next proposed fee increase, to $22.05 per year, would work out to 6 cents a day. He said the next increase, to 
$29.10 per year, would cost 8 cents a day and the final increase, to $36.10 per year, would cost 10 cents a day. He 
said that wasn’t a substantial increase and a small percentage of most property tax bills. 
Councilor Riegsecker said stormwater fees are a way for local governments to collect fees for stormwater impacts 
on non-profit entities that are exempt from paying property taxes. 
Councilor Riegsecker said he had a “problem” with the City Council rejecting the fee increase because that decision 
would preclude Elkhart County, the City of Elkhart and the Town of Bristol from raising their fees. “I don’t be the one to 
kill that for three other entities when they haven’t even had a chance to look at that yet,” he said. 
Councilor Riegsecker said he evaluated the increased fees for larger property owners and said it seemed appropriate 
given the impact of those properties on stormwater runoff. He also said he considered that the Greater Elkhart County 
Stormwater Partnership is charging much lower stormwater fees than the state average and that the City’s cost for 
projects cannot be much less than for other communities. 
Councilor King said she appreciated Councilor Riegsecker’s process in analyzing the stormwater fees. 
Council President Weddell said he didn’t want to engage in a discussion about climate change or increased storms 
and rainfall, “but what is definitely a fact is that we continue to grow. We continue to build. We continue to have more 
hard surfaces.” He said even if the weather patterns don’t change, “I think you can’t debate that we’ll have increased 
hard surfaces, which means more stormwater to deal with. I think it makes some sense.” 
Councilor Nisley responded, “I’m not saying that we don’t need to do something. I’m just saying that it’s not the time 
in my opinion ... In my district, I donated to the school, to their food pantry multiple times, multiple times to make sure 
those kids have something to eat. And the thing of it is when they come to me and say they can’t buy milk because it’s 
$5 a gallon …” 
Mayor Stutsman responded, “I don’t want to argue with any of that. I applaud you for thinking in that way. Just so you 
know, that’s why the partnership and the discussions that have happened to date wasn’t ‘Let’s implement this today so 
we get all the money today.’ It was, ‘Let’s do this by 2029 and phase it in so we’re not hitting people with the full amount 
right away.’ I do agree with what you’re saying.” 
 
As to the process tonight, Mayor Stutsman said there would be more Council discussion, but after a roll call vote on 
First Reading and assuming Ordinance 5144 passed, unanimous consent would be necessary to proceed with the 
Second (and final) Reading. The Mayor said he spoke to a few Councilors and agreed that Second Reading would be 
tabled. He said normally that would mean that Ordinance 5144 would be heard at the next Council meeting, which 
would be Dec. 27, 2022. However, the Mayor said that since the agenda for the final meeting of the year is reserved 
for additional appropriations, he would ask the Council to postpone the Second Reading to another date certain. 
 
Councilor Riegsecker said he had another point to make. He said the City is in a consortium of four entities and if the 
rate increase is approved by all, the higher rate will be in effect for a number of years. However, he also said it still can 
be changed. However, he asked if any of the entities could raise the fee if it is rejected this time. 
Mayor Stutsman said any of the partners could approve a higher stormwater fee. However, he said Elkhart County 
government officials say they will only include the stormwater fee on the county’s property tax bills if all four partners 
have the same rate. He said he didn’t know if the City could negotiate with the County over this issue, but added it 
would be difficult for the City to charge the fee on its own. 



                                                                            

14 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
City Director of Public Works & Utilities Sailor agreed with Mayor Stutsman’s response that all four partners must 
approve the increase for it to take effect. Hs said the City works with the County on many projects, and breaking away 
from the County would make it more difficult to complete projects.  
Mayor Stutsman said the City is in preliminary discussions with the County about jointly funding a new stormwater 
staff member. He said that possibility could be eliminated if the City imposed a different stormwater fee. 
Councilor Riegsecker said he is concerned that if the City acted independently, it’s difficult to know what the 
stormwater fee might me. He said he was more comfortable with all four partners working together, 
 
There were no further Council questions or comments and Council President Weddell indicated that 
Councilors were ready to vote. 
 
On a roll call vote, Councilors approved Ordinance 5144, Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen 
Department of Stormwater Management on First Reading, by a 5-1 margin, with Councilors Eichorn, King, 
Riegsecker, Schrock and Weddell voting “yes” and Councilor Nisley voting “no” at 7:38 p.m. Youth Advisor 
Velasquez Valdes also voted “yes.” Councilor Pérez was absent. 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to the Mayor to proceed with the Second Reading of Ordinance 5144. 
 
Mayor Stutsman called for the introduction, on Second Reading, of Ordinance 5144, Revision of Stormwater 
User Fees for the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-
Treasurer to read Ordinance 5144 by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/King moved for passage of Ordinance 5144 on Second and Final Reading. 
 
Mayor Stutsman asked Councilors to postpone the Second Reading of Ordinance 5144 to either the Jan. 9 or 
Jan. 23 Council meeting. 
 
Weddell/Nisley moved to table the Second Reading of Ordinance 5144, Revision of Stormwater User Fees for 
the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management, to the Council’s Jan. 23, 2023 meeting. 
 
Mayor Stutsman asked if there were any public comments on the motion. There were none. 
 
Council President Weddell said he liked this approach because the three other entities now knew where the Goshen 
Council stood on the proposed fee increase without Councilors having to make a final decision tonight. 
Mayor Stutsman said this approach also would allow for more public comment on the proposed increase. 
 
Council President Weddell said Councilors were ready to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors unanimously approved the motion to table the Second Reading of Ordinance 5144, 
Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management, to the Council’s 
Jan. 23, 2023 meeting at 7:39 p.m. with all Councilors present voting “yes.” 
 



                                                                            

15 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
5)  Ordinance 5150: Additional Appropriations (Public hearing and First, Second Reading) 
At 7:40 p.m., Mayor Stutsman briefly described the purpose of Ordinance 5150 and then opened a public 
hearing on it. There were no comments, so Mayor Stutsman closed the public hearing. 
 
Mayor Stutsman then called for the introduction of Ordinance 5150, Additional Appropriations. Council 
President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5150 by title only, which was done.  
Weddell/Eichorn moved to approve Ordinance 5150 on First Reading. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Mayor and the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office requested the passage of Ordinance 5150, Additional 
Appropriations, for authorization from the Council to spend additional and available money from various 
accounts. The Council is the City’s fiscal body, which authorizes the City’s budget and any budget adjustments. 
An appropriation is “permission to spend available money” and is tied to a specific fund. 
According to Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver, “Within a fund there are four spending categories and multiple 
accounts. It is possible to get permission to move budgeted spending between accounts and categories, but 
sometimes the total appropriations within a fund is insufficient for the fund’s total spending, due to emergencies, 
unforeseen circumstances, or budget errors. In this case, an additional appropriation was requested because the 
expenditures are necessary and paying for them might otherwise overspend the budgeted appropriation. 
After Council approval, the Clerk-Treasurer submits the additional appropriations to the Department of Local 
Government Finance (DLGF) for final approval. The DLGF will only approve an additional appropriation if the Clerk-
Treasurer proves that the City has cash available for the additional appropriation. 
Pursuant to Ordinance 5150, the following additional appropriations were requested: 

• ECONOMIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT FUND 
 219-570-00-431.0503 EID / Professional Services    $40,000 

• CUMULATIVE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT – FIRE STATION 
 433-510-00-445.0501 CCI FIRE / Other Equipment    $135,000 

• PLYMOUTH AVENUE TIF 
 484-560-00-442.0000 TIF PLYMOUTH AVE / Capital Projects   $7,614.41 
 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION AND PASSAGE OF ORDINANCE 5150 ON DEC. 19, 2022: 
Mayor Stutsman provided a brief overview of Ordinance 5150 as well as its background and context.  
 
At 7:41 p.m. Mayor Stutsman invited questions or comments from the Council and the audience. There were 
none. Council President Weddell indicated that Councilors were ready to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors approved Ordinance 5150, Additional Appropriations, on First Reading, by a 6-0 
margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes” at 7:42 p.m. Youth Advisor Velasquez Valdes also voted 
“yes.” 
 
Councilors gave unanimous consent to the Mayor to proceed with the Second Reading of Ordinance 5150. 
 



                                                                            

16 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Stutsman called for the introduction, on Second Reading, of Ordinance 5150, Additional Appropriations. 
Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Ordinance 5150 by title only, which was done. 
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Ordinance 5150 on Second and Final Reading. 
Mayor Stutsman invited comments or questions from Councilors and the public about Ordinance 5150 There 
were none. Council President Weddell indicated that Councilors were ready to vote. 
 
On a voice vote, Councilors approved Ordinance 5150, Additional Appropriations on Second (and final) 
Reading, by a 6-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes” at 7:42 p.m. Youth Advisor Velasquez 
Valdes also voted “yes.” 
 
 
6)  Resolution 2022-28: Project Coordination Contract with the State of Indiana for the Preliminary 
Engineering for the Pavement Replacement Project on Blackport Drive 
Mayor Stutsman called for the introduction of Resolution 2022-28, Project Coordination Contract with the 
State of Indiana for the Preliminary Engineering for the Pavement Replacement Project on Blackport Drive. 
Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 2022-28 by title only, which he did. 
Weddell/Schrock moved to approve Resolution 2022-28. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
City Civil Traffic Engineer Josh Corwin provided the following information in a memorandum included in the 
Council’s meeting packet: The Redevelopment Commission previously approved a Local Public 
Agency/Consultant agreement with BLN (Beam, Longest, & Neff, the City of Goshen’s engineering 
consulting firm) for the Blackport Drive Reconstruction for a maximum payable amount of $936,200. 
The City is responsible for 20% of the contract amount, or $187,240. The current estimated construction cost for 
the project is $4,901,000 and the estimate for right-of-way acquisition is $1,300,000. While the $936,200 design fee 
is a higher percentage of the construction estimate than what is typical, the higher fee is considered standard for 
projects with significant design complexities similar to what is expected with the proposed Blackport project. 
On Dec. 13, by a 3-1 vote, the Redevelopment Commission approved the INDOT/LPA agreement for the 
Blackport project. The Engineering Department then requested the Council’s approval and execution of the 
INDOT/LPA Agreement for the Blackport Drive Reconstruction. 
The amount shown in the contract is $480,000, which is the 80% of the original $600,000 approved for PE 
(Preliminary Engineering) and the amount currently included in the Michiana Council of Government’s (MACOG) TIP 
(Transportation Improvement Plan). However, language in the contract states that any amendment to the amount 
included in the TIP is considered an amendment to the contract amount. MACOG already has an amendment for the 
full amount (80% of $936,200, or $748,960) that is on the agenda for the December meeting of the Policy Board. 
While waiting for an updated contract is an option, staff reported it was not necessary and would likely delay progress 
on the project several months until MACOG’s TIP and the contract can be processed and updated. 
 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION AND PASSAGE OF RESOLUTION 2022-28 ON DEC. 19, 2022: 
Mayor Stutsman said Resolution 2022-28 has prompted increasing attention the past few days and he met with 
several Councilors to discuss it. He invited comments from City Civil Traffic Engineer Corwin. 



                                                                            

17 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Reading from his Dec. 19, 2022 memorandum to the Council, City Civil Traffic Engineer Corwin provided a brief 
overview of Ordinance 5147 as well as its background and context.  
 
Mayor Stutsman provided additional background. He said the project began during Mayor Allan Kauffman’s 
administration, focused on discussions with neighbors about adding a sidewalk or boardwalk along the road. The Mayor 
said his understanding is that neighbors still want that, and it would be part of the current project. 
Up to now, Mayor Stutsman said the City hasn’t been able to provide funding for the sidewalk. He said the City also 
explored repairing the road’s surface. During initial work, the Mayor said City staff discovered that many trees had been 
placed below the water-soaked ground to provide a base for the road to “float” on. Because of the way the road was 
built, the Mayor said truck traffic is not allowed on Blackport Drive. 
Mayor Stutsman said that the hope is by bringing these two projects together, which are expensive because of the 
need to reconstruct the road, the project might be completed. The Mayor said he and City staff approached the 
Michiana Area Council of Government (MACOG) to seek approval of a Local Public Agency agreement, which would 
provide 80% of the funding, mostly from the federal government, for the project. 
The Mayor said he hopes that the project will be completed because it would be a new truck route and alleviate traffic 
elsewhere as well as better connect East Goshen to the rest of community. He said such projects are expensive, which 
is why the City seeks partners to help provide funding. 
Mayor Stutsman said although the proposed $936,200 engineering design fee is expensive, the expenditures would 
come in phases. He said the initial two phases will cost about $200,000. He said that when those two phases are 
completed, City and MACOG staff will be able to meet and have a better idea of the ultimate cost of the project and 
whether the City can afford for it to proceed. 
While Mayor Stutsman said there is some risk to City because the project could then be called off by the City or 
MACOG, Still, he said the engineering design work will provide clear information on how to proceed in the future and 
the amount of funding that will be necessary. He said he viewed this as a necessary step forward.  
Mayor Stutsman said that he briefed Elkhart County Fair officials about the project and how it would benefit the fair 
by providing an additional access route. He said the earliest construction could begin would be 2027, or more 
realistically 2030, because of the nature of delays in federal funding. The Mayor also complimented City staff for 
advancing a proposal that has long been discussed and for finding a way to pay for it. 
 
Council President Weddell said he was the sole dissenting vote on the Redevelopment Commission’s approval of 
the INDOT/LPA agreement for the Blackport Drive project. He said his opposition was not related to any of the points 
made by the Mayor. He also said he understood that neighbors have wanted the project for years. And even though 
the cost is “very prohibitive,” he acknowledged City staff’s efforts in seeking shared funding for the project. 
Council President Weddell said his opposition to the project stems from his disagreement on who should be 
responsible for paying for it. He said: “It’s my opinion this is not a redevelopment property. I’m of the mindset that a 
Redevelopment Commission project should involve actually redeveloping something or getting another property back 
on the tax rolls or a project that benefits the people or the entities that are generating the TIF (Tax-Increment 
Finance) revenue and I don’t see that as the case in this particular project, which would be why I voted ‘no.’” 
Council President Weddell said that doesn’t mean he doesn’t think it’s a viable project. He said he believes the 
project should move forward with another funding source using other City funds. 
 



                                                                            

18 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Council President Weddell said that several years ago he got a little upset when he believed the Council had begun 
micro-managing the work and decisions of the Redevelopment Commission. He said he stands by that position, 
because he doesn’t think that the Council should micro-manage the Redevelopment Commission. 
Council President Weddell said he voted no to the Blackport Drive project when it was before the Redevelopment 
Commission and will do so again tonight, not because it isn’t a viable project, but because he doesn’t think it’s a 
redevelopment project He added that the explanations and additional information he has received from City staff and 
the Mayor have eased some of his concerns about the project, but he objects to its funding source. 
Mayor Stutsman responded that he served for eight years on the Council and Redevelopment Commission and the 
Blackport Drive project is the type he would have supported because of how it connects to other City priorities. He 
said if the City paid for this project without redevelopment funds, there would be other projects that the 
Redevelopment Commission would be asked to fund. 
Mayor Stutsman said this was a good way to move forward with the project and it’s a great one for the City and for 
East Goshen. He said the City has been spending a lot of funds to repave roads in East Goshen, will soon be adding 
another tornado siren and has made water system improvements. He added that he would hate to see a long-
delayed project be derailed now that funding has been found for it. 
Councilor Nisley said he is focused on the potential loss of matching funds if the project was to be stopped now. 
Mayor Stutsman said that was a valid concern. He said that even if the project is stopped because of the high cost 
of it after the initial two stages of study, there will come a day when Blackport Drive will have to be rebuilt. And 
moving forward now won’t be a loss, because a lot of information will have been generated. 
Councilor Riegsecker asked if the City will have the kind of helpful information the Mayor just discussed after phase 
one. City Civil Traffic Engineer Corwin said that detailed information would be provided in phase one. He 
confirmed the cost of phase one would be $200,000, that it would provide a clear estimate of the total cost to 
complete the project and that the City could cancel the project if it is determined to be too expensive. 
Councilor Riegsecker said he believes it’s necessary to know the total cost of the project before he can decide 
whether he will eventually support it. And he said that for $200,000, the Council can get the information it needs. 
Mayor Stutsman asked Corwin to discuss how long phase one would take. Corwin said it could take about two 
years followed by the environmental year process for several years.  
Council President Weddell asked if the City’s five year capital plan for the Redevelopment Commission included 
funding for construction of the actual project or just the engineering design and environmental phases. Mayor 
Stutsman said it just included the preliminary work. 
Council President Weddell said that at some point the Council will have to discuss if it is reasonable to spend so 
much money on this project. 
Mayor Stutsman said Brian Garber, the president of the Redevelopment Commission, was present in case 
there were any questions for him. 
Council President Weddell said that until tonight, he didn’t fully realize that phase one and the environmental 
assessment would only cost $200,000 and that the City could withdraw from the project if that assessment uncovered 
major problems. Corwin confirmed that interpretation. He added that if the project is canceled, the City won’t need to 
provide reimbursement for the funding it receives. 
Councilor Schrock said a number of business owners he spoke with were excited about the project as well as 
stormwater system improvements. He also clarified that only a portion of Blackport Drive has logs underneath. Mayor 
Stutsman confirmed that understanding. 



                                                                            

19 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Councilor Riegsecker said that eventually the City will need to do something about Blackport Drive. 
City Civil Traffic Engineer Corwin confirmed Mayor Stutsman’s understanding that Blackport Drive needs 
pavement improvements now, but that would be a waste of money because of the road’s underlying problems. 
Councilor Schrock said the logs have help keep the road intact, adding that some trucks use the road. 
Councilor Nisley asked if the study will need to be repeated if the project doesn’t start for seven years. Corwin said 
much of the work would still be valid, but updates might be necessary. 
Councilor Schrock said there are other issues on Blackport Drive besides those areas with logs underneath. He 
said there is a portion where water sometimes flows on both sides of the road, at Lincoln Avenue water flows over 
the sidewalk and street and at least one property floods. He said the project will be great and worth the wait. 
Councilor King said he has spoken to East Goshen residents and they have been concerned about Blackport Drive 
for many years. She said she appreciated Councilor Weddell’s perspective, but didn’t share it in this particular case. 
Councilor Schrock said he also understood Councilor Weddell’s perspective. 
Council President Weddell said he wasn’t against the project; he just disagrees with paying for it with 
Redevelopment Commission funds. 
Mayor Stutsman said the City applied several times for funds with MACOG for just the sidewalk and it was Corwin’s 
idea to combine the sidewalk and road in a single project 
 
At 8:04 p.m., Mayor Stutsman invited public comments on Resolution 2022-28. 
Brian Garber, the president of the City Redevelopment Commission, said the commission has approved funding 
for the study in the amount of $76,000 in 2023 and $50,000 for property acquisition. He said he supported the project, 
adding it would help East Goshen and improve traffic. He added the project was consisted with the Redevelopment 
Commission’s priorities. 
Glenn Null of Goshen said the project site has many nearby swamp areas. He said it never made sense to build a 
road through a swamp. He said instead of spending millions of dollars, the City should abandon the through-road and 
not spend money to fix a road that should never have been built over a swamp. 
 
There were no further comments, so Mayor Stutsman closed the public comment period at 8:08 p.m. 
 
There were no further Council questions or comments.  Council President Weddell indicated that Councilors 
were ready to vote. 
 
On a roll call vote, Councilors approved Resolution 2022-28, Project Coordination Contract with the State of 
Indiana for the Preliminary Engineering for the Pavement Replacement Project on Blackport Drive, by a 4-2 
margin, with Councilors Eichorn, King, Riegsecker and Schrock voting “yes” and Councilors Nisley and 
Weddell voting “no” at 8:09 p.m. Youth Advisor Velasquez Valdes also voted “yes.” 
 
 
7)  Common Council calendar for 2023 (Clerk-Treasurer Richard R. Aguirre) 
Mayor Stutsman said he and Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre met and developed a proposed 2023 Common Council 
calendar, which was included in Council’s meeting packet. It listed Council meetings, holidays and special dates  
 



                                                                            

20 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Stutsman said during most of 2023, the Council would have two meetings per month, but on other months 
there would only be one meeting. He said normally, the Council meets on the first and third Mondays of the month, 
but not in 2023. 
Mayor Stutsman provided the following explanation of the meeting calendar: in January, there would be meetings on 
the second and fourth Mondays because of holidays; in February, back-to-back meetings are scheduled on the first 
and second Mondays, but the second meeting would be a joint meeting with the Goshen Community Schools Board 
with no scheduled Council action; March is a return to the normal schedule, with meetings on the first and third 
Mondays of the month; in April, there would only be one meeting, on the third Monday,  because of the Goshen 
Community Schools spring break; in May, there would only be one meeting, on the third Monday, because the first 
Monday of the month would be the day before the primary election and the fifth Monday is Memorial Day; in June, 
meetings would be on the first and fourth Mondays of the month because of the Juneteenth holiday; the July meeting 
would be on the third Monday; in August, because of the AIM Ideas Summit, there would be Council meetings on the 
first and fourth Mondays; in September, there would be only one meeting because of the Labor Day holiday; in 
October, meetings would be held on the first and fifth Mondays because of the Goshen Community Schools fall 
break; in November, there would be one meeting because of the general election the day after the first Monday; and 
in December, meetings would be held on first and third Mondays as well as on Tuesday, Dec. 27, for the approval of 
the final budget appropriations for 2023. 
Aguirre said once approved, the calendar will be distributed to the news media, City Departments, and people on the 
Council’s meeting distribution list. He said it also will be posted on the City’s website. 
Aguirre said that if there are instances when a meeting quorum will not be possible, adequate public notice will be 
given and meetings will be cancelled. He said advance notice also will be given for any special Council meetings. He 
added that it hasn’t been decided if the Council retreat will be held on Friday, May 5 or cancelled. 
Councilor Eichorn pointed out an error on the calendar (extra spring break days) and also noted that the dates of 
the Goshen Community Schools fall break have yet to be approved. Still, she said she didn’t expect the dates to 
change from those indicated on the Council calendar. 
Mayor Stutsman said if the dates of the fall break are changed, the Council can adjust the calendar and adjust the 
meeting dates. 
Councilor Schrock said he had a question, but not about the Council calendar. He confirmed that the question 
would not affect the calendar, so Mayor Stutsman suggested Councilor Schrock ask his question later. 
 
At 8:14 p.m. Mayor Stutsman invited public comments on the proposed Council calendar. There were none. 
 
Councilors Nisley/Eichorn moved to approve the 2023 Common Council calendar.  
 
On a voice vote, Councilors approved the 2023 Common Council calendar by a 6-0 margin, with all 
Councilors present voting “yes” at 8:15 p.m. Youth Advisor Velasquez Valdes also voted “yes.” 
 
 
Elected Official Reports: 
Mayor Stutsman said county and City officials are monitoring weather forecasts very closely. He said he 
wished all a Merry Christmas, but said the upcoming weather was worrisome. 



                                                                            

21 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Mayor Stutsman said the forecast is calling for rain and snow starting Thursday evening (Dec. 22) followed 
by an abrupt drop in temperatures, with flash freezing, high winds and temperatures as low as minus 25 
degrees. He said that the City Street Department would be doing its best to keep street safe, but this was a bad 
scenario for City crews. He reminded the public to stay safe and to monitor weather reports. 
 
Councilor Schrock asked if Zoom was operating for tonight’s meeting. He said his sister sent an email that she 
wanted to make a comment via Zoom on the Blackport Drive project, but was unable to do so. 
Mayor Stutsman responded that an executive order allowed the City to accept public comments via Zoom, but the 
order expired months ago. So, the City still broadcasts audio and video of Council meetings; but public 
comments by Zoom haven’t been accepted for about five months. The Mayor said the Council could change its 
rules and allow public comments via, Zoom, but for now Zoom comments cannot be accepted. 
Councilor Schrock elicited laughter when he responded, “Then that means I accidentally lied to my sister.” 
“It’s called an error,” Councilor King replied with a smile. “It’s not a lie.” 
 
Council President Weddell thanked the City Parks and Recreation Department for the holiday lights displays 
at Shanklin Park. He said it was “great.” 
 
Council President Weddell provided a recap of action at the Dec. 13 Redevelopment Commission meeting. 
He said that the commission had a major discussion on the Blackport Drive project, He said the Commission also 
approved a contract for the reconstruction of 10th Street adjacent to the former Western Rubber property, 
which is scheduled to be the site of an apartment complex. He said the commission also had a first vote on the 
City’s residential TIF (Tax Increment Financing) proposal, but many more votes on that are ahead.  
Finally, Council President Weddell said the commission approved the purchase of just under 70 acres of 
farmland just north of the Goshen Airport. He said this is important because the property has the potential to be 
a new City well head for the next 70 years. He thanked Board of Aviation members, because the land came to 
them as a potential property for sale, and they forwarded the opportunity to the City. ”It’s a big deal,” he added. 
Mayor Stutsman said the Board of Aviation obtained a first-right-of-refusal agreement for the property at a time the 
City was looking into adding another runway. The City had been talking to the owners about buying the property, but 
another party made an offer to buy the land, so the first right of refusal made it possible for the City to buy the 
property. The Mayor said the matter may come before the Council in January because Councilors must vote on any 
purchase of more than $25,000. He said this may be the site of the City’s next well field with a water treatment plant. 
 
Councilor King said she, Councilor Schrock and the Mayor have continued to meet with staff from the City 
Parks and Recreation Department about the need for a new City pool. He said her grandson “pointed at all of the 
(pool) pictures and liked all of them.” 
Mayor Stutsman joked that it would be great if her grandson could help raise funds for the pool. He said City staff 
will be presenting updates to the Council in the near future, but he said it has become obvious that spending the 
money to fix such an old pool will not be money well spent. There are two estimates about what a new pool would 
cost, which are being studied to determine if the cost can be reduced. 
 
Councilor Nisley provided a brief report on today’s meeting of the Board of Aviation, including some equipment 
needs. He also said a new jet is now being housed at the airport, which was good news. 
 
Councilor Riegsecker expressed appreciation to City staff who provided information on the stormwater fees  



                                                                            

22 | P a g e  
Dec. 19, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Council Riegsecker expressed appreciation for Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre’s presentation, adding, “Thanks for all 
your hard work.” He also thanked Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver for his contributions. 
 
Mayor Stutsman thanked Councilors for approving the bonus for City employees at the last meeting. He said 
many staff members expressed their appreciation to the Council. 
 
There were no further comments by elected officials. 
 
Councilor Nisley made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Councilor King seconded the motion. Councilors 
unanimously approved the motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 
Mayor Stutsman adjourned the meeting at 8:22 p.m. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #1: A four-page memorandum, dated Dec. 19, 2022, and read to the Common Council in support of 
agenda item #2) 2) Presentation: Report on Clerk-Treasurer Office operations. Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre 
prepared the memorandum, which provided an overview of the activities and accomplishments of the Clerk-
Treasurer’s Office since Aguirre was sworn into office, July 8, 2021.  
 
EXHIBIT #2: A printout of a 22-slide PowerPoint presentation, titled “Stormwater User Fee Ordinance,” 
prepared and delivered Dec. 19, 2022 by City Stormwater Coordinator Jason Kauffman to Common Council 
members in support of agenda item 4) Ordinance 5144: Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen 
Department of Stormwater Management (Public hearing and First, Second Reading). 
 
EXHIBIT #3: A four-page memorandum, dated December 19, 2022, and five pages of supplemental information 
prepared by City Stormwater Coordinator Jason Kauffman and distributed  to Common Council members in 
support of agenda item 4) Ordinance 5144: Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen Department of 
Stormwater Management (Public hearing and First, Second Reading). 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED:  __________________________________ 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor of Goshen 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, City Clerk-Treasurer 



                                                                            

1 | P a g e  
Dec. 27, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
Minutes of the DECEMBER 27, 2022 Regular Meeting  

Convened in the Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 
 
Mayor Jeremy Stutsman called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Mayor Stutsman asked the Clerk-Treasurer to conduct the roll call. 
Present: Julia King (At-Large)  Doug Nisley (District 2)  Donald Riegsecker (District 1) 
 Matt Schrock (District 3)  Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large) 
 Youth Advisor Karen C. Velazquez Valdes (Non-voting) – Arrived at 5:36 p.m. 
Absent:  Megan Eichorn (District 4) and Gilberto Pérez Jr. (District 5) 
 
Approval of Minutes: Mayor Stutsman said there were no minutes to review/approve. 
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda: Mayor Stutsman presented the meeting agenda for approval. Councilor Nisley 
moved to approve the agenda as submitted. Councilor Schrock seconded the motion. The motion passed 5-0 
on a voice vote. 
 
 
Privilege of the Floor: 
At 5:31 p.m., Mayor Stutsman invited public comments on matters not on the agenda. There were none, so 
the Mayor closed Privilege of the Floor. 
 
 
1)  Resolution 2022-29: An Emergency Resolution Providing for the Transfer of Appropriations 
Mayor Stutsman called for the introduction of Resolution 2022-29, An Emergency Resolution Providing for 
the Transfer of Appropriations. Council President Weddell asked the Clerk-Treasurer to read Resolution 
2022-29 by title only, which he did. 
Weddell/Nisley moved to approve Resolution 2022-29. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver presented a memorandum, included in the Council meeting packet in 
which he explained the purpose and rationale for Resolution 2022-29, which requested authorization from the 
Council and Mayor to move available resources between major categories within the City’s funds. The Clerk-
Treasurer’s Office presents appropriation category transfers to the Common Council at the last Council meeting each 
year to close the annual budget with all accounts within budget.  
Weaver explained that an appropriation is “permission to spend available money” and is tied to a specific fund. 
Within a fund there are four spending categories and multiple accounts. The state Department of Local Government 
Finance (DLGF) requires Council approval to move an appropriation from one category to another. The Council can 
approve this transfer when a City Department has available appropriations in a category that can be transferred to a 
depleted category to meet Department expenses. 



                                                                            

2 | P a g e  
Dec. 27, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Weaver wrote that by moving an appropriation from one category to another, the Council is only changing the 
category from which the City pays an expenditure. The Council is not approving any additional spending, so the 
fund’s total appropriation remains the same. 
On behalf of the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office, Weaver asked Councilors to approve Resolution 2022-29 because the 
Council is the City’s fiscal body which authorizes the City’s budget and any budget adjustments. State auditors 
require each appropriation to be a zero or positive dollar amount at the end of the year. The vast majority of the City’s 
appropriations are underspent, and these adjustments reflect a small number of the 1,200+ appropriation lines the 
City maintains throughout the year.  
Weaver said that if the Council approves the category transfers at the Dec. 27 meeting, the Clerk-Treasurer will then 
register the adjustments in the City’s books and communicate the transfers to the affected City departments. These 
category transfers are adjustments that only require Council approval to be final, and do not require notification to the 
state Department of Local Government Finance. 
 
Resolution 2022-29, An Emergency Resolution Providing for the Transfer of Appropriations, would authorize 
the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office to transfer unobligated balances into different categories than was appropriated in the 
annual budget for the various functions of the several departments to meet emergencies (EXHIBIT #1): 
 
GENERAL FUND - 101 
FROM: Board of Works/Full Time Personnel 101-510-07-411.0130  ($3,000)  
TO: Mayor/Longevity 101-510-03-411.0152  $3,000 
 
FROM: Mayor/Other Office Expenses 101-510-03-421.0500  ($1,000)  
TO: Mayor/Subscriptions and Dues 101-510-03-439.0301  $1,000 
 
FROM: CT/Other Office Expenses 101-510-04-421.0501  ($1,800)  
TO: CT/Postage 101-510-04-432.0201  $1,800 
 
FROM: Court/Full Time Personnel 101-510-06-411.0130  ($100)  
TO: Court/Increment 101-510-06-411.0151  $100 
 
FROM: Bard of Works/Full Time Personnel 101-510-07-411.0130  ($31,000)  
TO: Fire/Full Time Personnel 101-520-12-411.0130  $31,000 
 
AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN FUND - 176 
FROM: ARP/Services & Charges 176-510-00-431.0000  ($36,000)  
TO: ARP/Test Kits 176-510-00-422.0300  $36,000 
 
AVIATION FUND - 206 
FROM: Aviation/Electricity 206-530-00-435.0101  ($2,425)  
TO: Aviation/Full Time Personnel 206-530-00-411.0130  $2,150 and 
       Aviation/Building Materials 206-530-00-422.0400      $  275 



                                                                            

3 | P a g e  
Dec. 27, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
PUBLIC SAFETY LOCAL OPTION INCOME TAX (LOIT)  - 249 
FROM: PS LOIT/Equipment 249-520-00-445.0201  ($51,500.00)  
TO: PS LOIT/Fire Retirement 249-520-00-413.0912  $25,000.00 and  
PS/Fire Gas Diesel Propane 249-520-00-422.0210   $26,500.00 
 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION AND PASSAGE OF RESOLUTION 2022-29 ON DEC. 27, 2022: 
Mayor Stutsman said Resolution 2022-29 was the usual year-end measure to make sure all City budget lines were 
balanced. He asked if there were any questions from Councilors. 
 
Councilor Nisley asked for an explanation of the proposed transfer of $31,000 from Board of Works/Full Time 
Personnel to Fire/Full Time Personnel. 
Mayor Stutsman responded that last year the City completed the 2022 budget before concluding negotiations with 
the Fire Department union over salaries. He said the City ended up concluding its negotiations with a 3.5 percent 
salary increase, instead of 3 percent. 
To cover the expected salary increases, Mayor Stutsman said the City placed $250,000 in the Board of Works/Full 
Time Personnel budget line so staff could shift it around as needed to cover salaries throughout the year. The Mayor 
said that’s why there was so much money in the Board of Works/Full Time Personnel line. He added that $31,000 
was being transferred for full-time Fire Department personnel because they City decided to hire firefighters early to 
allow for several months of training to take place without the loss of personnel who would be training. 
 
Deputy Clerk-Treasurer Jeffery Weaver said he was available to answer additional questions from Councilors. 
Referring to an earlier Council quip about whether he had included in the resolution a controversial proposal to 
regulate the raising chickens in the City, Weaver joked that the resolution also wouldn’t regulate peacocks in the City 
“because I know that needs a separate ordinance because they’re loud.” Several Councilors laughed. 
 
Council President Weddell asked about the shift of $36,000 in the American Rescue Plan Fund to pay for test kits. 
Mayor Stutsman responded that the funds are being transferred to pay for the COVID-19 test kits that the City 
purchased in 2021. 
 
Councilor Nisley asked about the transfer of $2,425 from Aviation/Electricity to Aviation/Full Time Personnel ($2,150) 
and Aviation/Building Materials ($275). 
Mayor Stutsman responded he believes not enough was budgeted in the two lines, so the transfer was proposed. 
Councilor Nisley said that was good, but he would like to see more funds going to the Goshen Airport. 
 
At 5:35 p.m., Mayor Stutsman invited public comments on Resolution 2022-29. There were none. 
 
There were no further Council questions or comments. Council President Weddell indicated that Councilors 
were ready to vote. 
 
On a roll call vote, Councilors approved Resolution 2022-29, An Emergency Resolution Providing for the 
Transfer of Appropriations, by a 5-0 margin, with all Councilors present voting “yes.” Youth Advisor 
Velasquez Valdes also voted “yes.” 



                                                                            

4 | P a g e  
Dec. 27, 2022 | City Council Minutes 

 
Elected Official Reports: 
Mayor Stutsman thanked City staff who worked over the Christmas holiday to clear snow and ice from streets and to 
keep residents safe. He said the Police Department was especially busy on Dec. 23 dealing with many calls for 
service, including reports of people, assumed to be homeless, outside during sub-zero temperatures. The Mayor said 
police reached out to those people and advised them there were many beds available in the Elkhart homeless 
shelter. Several people accepted the help, but some refused assistance. In those cases, the Mayor said police tried 
to keep track of the locations of those people and conducted “life safety checks” as possible. 
Clerk-Treasurer Aguirre said he was aware that City Departments wisely prepared for an even worse weather 
emergency. He asked if extra staff time ended up being necessary to respond to the extreme weather. 
Mayor Stutsman responded that affected City staff were able to mostly stick to their normal work schedules. He said 
the City experienced strong winds and low temperatures, but didn’t receive the amount of snow that had been feared, 
which made conditions easier for the Street Department to handle. The Mayor said on Dec. 22, he met with various 
Department heads to hear reports on their planning to respond to the expected weather emergency. 
Councilor King expressed appreciation for the planning and the City’s response to the weather emergency. 
 
Mayor Stutsman asked that the record reflect that Youth Advisor Velazquez Valdes had arrived at the meeting. 
 
There were no further comments by elected officials. 
 
Councilor Nisley made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Councilor Riegsecker seconded the motion. The 
Councilors present unanimously approved the motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 
Mayor Stutsman adjourned the meeting at 5:38 p.m. and wished all a happy new year. 
 
 
EXHIBIT #1: Resolution 2022-29, An Emergency Resolution Providing for the Transfer of Appropriations, which 
would authorize the Clerk-Treasurer’s Office to transfer these unobligated balances into different categories 
than was appropriated in the annual budget for the various functions of the several departments to meet 
emergencies. A copy of the resolution was emailed to Councilors and the news media before the Dec. 27, 2022 
meeting and also was distributed at the meeting.  
 
 
 
APPROVED:  __________________________________ 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor of Goshen 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, City Clerk-Treasurer 



Jan. 23, 2023 

Memo from Council President Weddell to Common Council members: 

As typically occurs each new calendar year, the Council is tasked with making appointments to the 
various City Boards and Commissions.  Each year the appointments vary based upon the specified 
terms. This year we are tasked with appointing the following positions: 

1. Two positions to the RDC.  Each appointment is for a one-year term.

2. One position to the Shade Tree Board.  3-year term.

3. One position to the CRC.  3-year term.

4. Two positions to the Board of Building Appeals.  2-year term.

I had originally thought that there would also be an opening on the Goshen Public Library Board of 
Trustee. However, Library Director Ann Margret Rice determined that the State of Indiana has set 
the term at 4 years, and not the 3 that I assumed. As a result, we will not be making any Library 
Board appointments at this time. 

Please review the attached applications provided by Communication Coordinator Sharon Hernandez 
prior the meeting and contact the applicants as needed.   

Brett Weddell, OD 
Wellington & Weddell Eye Care 
Goshen City Council, At Large 

Addendum from Clerk-Treasurer Richard R. Aguirre: 
As of Jan. 17, 2023, the following individuals applied to serve on the four City Boards and 
Commissions and their applications are attached to this memo (I = incumbent): 

Board of Building Appeals (2): Pete Weddell (I); Joshua Barba; Joshua Munson 

Community Relations Commission (1): Sharon Beechy (I); Kyle Richardson; Ana Zamora 

Shade Tree Board (1): Ryan Smith (I); Nathaniel Klink; Eusebio Pantoja 

Redevelopment Commission (2): Adam Knott; Andrea Johnson (I); Jonathan Graber; Eusebio 
Pantoja; Brett Weddell (I) 



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��7")��8�69��:���$�6��(�("�; ���

<<=>>=????@ABCDEFGGHAIJKJK�LBEMGCNOCI�LMPQDRAGE

�
����������
������
������������
�SCG�IDO�TEMGCGRMGU�TE�NGTEV�B�WGWNGC�DX�B�QDRAGE�NDBCU�DC�HDWWTRRTDEY�ZT[[�DOM�MATR�XDCW�MD�NG�HDERTUGCGU�B�HBEUTUBMGP�\AG�LTMI�LDOEHT[�BEU�<BIDC�B]]DTEM�QDRAGE�CGRTUGEMR�MD�NG�WGWNGCR�DX�NDBCUR�DC�HDWWTRRTDERP�̂X�IDO�EGGU�BRRTRMBEHG_�][GBRG�HDEMBHM�OR�BM�̀aKb̀ccbdceeP�6���f
2���������f!��������f�������f��� f



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��7")��8�69��:���$�6��(�("�; ���

<=>?@A?@B>C>D>?ECFGHHIJK@LMNOPQRSITOUTOOVWQXK�YHRPXQTWF�UTOOQFFQTW<Z[H�F\HWX�XJQF�KHP]�TW�XJH�UTOOVWQXK�YHRPXQTWF�UTOOQFFQTW�XT�̂QRR�TVX�FTOHTWH�HRFHZF�XH]OS�<XZF�GHHW�P�\TFQXQ[H�H_\H]QHWIH�̂T]�OHS�<ZO�H_IQXH̀�GK�XJH�NTPRF�T̂�XJH�UYU�XT�OPaH�H[H]KTWH�QW�bTFJHW�̂HHR�QWIRV̀H̀�PẀ�FH][H̀S

,����c:/
��
��c
�
����3�7��cd����c�
�����
������
���������������cde��������������7��f��
3�������������
���e��������c



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��7")��8�69��:���$�6��(�("�; ���

<=�=>?>@AB�CDE@�F@@G�HG�IJI�AKLMGN�OPOOQ�CDE@�?R=H�=@LE@A�HG�E?LMHK=�FH?LA=�?GA�SHTTM>>@@=�?>�SUKLSU�?GA�?=�?�VKFRMS�=SUHHR�>@?SU@L�WCDT�GHX�L@>ML@AYQ�IR@?LB�UHG@=>�SHTTKGMS?>MHG�M=�>U@�TH=>�MTVHL>?G>�V?L>�HZ�A@SM=MHG[T?\MGN�MG�?�NLHKV�=@>>MGNQCDE@�@G]Ĥ@A�>UM=�̂@?L�HG�IJI_�̀@�U?E@�?�NL@?>�NLHKV�HZ�SHTTM==MHG@L=�XUH�XHL\�X@RR�XM>U�@?SU�H>U@LQ�CDA�RM\@�>H�SHG>MGK@�=@LEMGN�MG�HLA@L�>H�R@?LG�THL@�?FHK>�X?̂=�HZ�L@=HREMGN�M==K@=�?GA�>H�U@RV�XM>U�VR?GGMGN�ZHL�IJI[=VHG=HL@A�@E@G>=Q�aUM=�M=�?�X?̂�HZ�SHG>MGKMGN�T �̂V@L=HG?R�NLHX>UB�?GA�SHG>LMFK>MGN�>H�>U@�SM>̂�HZ�bH=U@GQ
6�����7���� ����������
���c��������� 
3���"������
���7
����"��������
�$��d���e
6�����7��8� � 
3�����������������������������������������7
����
���
������
�e



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��7**8�2.9�:;'<��&��6%��8=> ���

??@AA@BBBBCDEDFGHHGIIJKLM�NOPQR�?STU�NQVOWRGU

�
����������
������
������������
�XYG�ZOP�TUQGYGWQGH�TU�[GTU\�S�]G][GY�Ô�S�VOWRGU�[OSYH�OY�_O]]TWWTOÙ�aTII�OPQ�QRTW�̂OY]�QO�[G�_OUWTHGYGH�S�_SUHTHSQGb�ERG�cTQZ�cOPU_TI�SUH�?SZOY�SddOTUQ�VOWRGU�YGWTHGUQW�QO�[G�]G][GYW�Ô�[OSYHW�OY�_O]]TWWTOUWb�ê�ZOP�UGGH�SWWTWQSU_Gf�dIGSWG�_OUQS_Q�PW�SQ�ghijgkkjMkJJb�6���l
2���������l!��������l�������l��� l



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��7**8�2.9�:;'<��&��6%��8=> ���

?@ABC@CDEFGEHFDIJIFKDFLEMGKLNOPKIQRSTUVWCBXYQUWZRBXAB@[�\NN]CX̂�ZUC_A_̀]aBUR̂�W]Wb]_�̂B@Q]�IcJJY�ZCQd[_UR@A�QU@̂V_RQVBU@�C@A�C@�]ARQCVU_YeBXXB@[�VU�PU_d�PBVT�C@f�[_URN�B@�QUXXCbU_CVBa]�A]QB̂BU@HWCdB@[�B̂̂ R]̂g�b]�BV�PBVT�QBVf�UOOBQ]̂�U_�VT]�QBVBh]@̂�UO�iÛT]@Y

,����jk/
��
��j
�
����3�;��j=����j�
�����
������
���������������j=l��������������;��9��
3�������������
���l��������j6�����;���� ����������
���l��������� 
3���"������
���;
����"��������
�$��9���j



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��7**8�2.9�:;'<��&��6%��8=> ���

?@AB@�CD@�EFCG�HIJ�CD@�K@LKM@�LN�OLPD@IQ6�����;��R� � 
3�����������������������������������������;
����
���
������
�S



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'�.'$".72���#&"��8"09�����8�: ���

;;<==<>>>>?@ABCDEFGCAHIJKL@MKDAENOIJD�PJQGRB

�
����������
������
������������
�SHR�@JL�EBFRHRQFRT�EB�UREBK�A�DRDURH�JV�A�PJQGRB�UJAHT�JH�IJDDEQQEJBW�XENN�JLF�FGEQ�VJHD�FJ�UR�IJBQETRHRT�A�IABTETAFRO�YGR�ZEF@�ZJLBIEN�ABT�;A@JH�A[[JEBF�PJQGRB�HRQETRBFQ�FJ�UR�DRDURHQ�JV�UJAHTQ�JH�IJDDEQQEJBQO�\V�@JL�BRRT�AQQEQFABIR]�[NRAQR�IJBFAIF�LQ�AF�̂_̀âbbacbddO�6���e
2���������e!��������e�������e��� e



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'�.'$".72���#&"��8"09�����8�: ���

;<=>?@>A=B=CD@B=>EFGHIJKLMJNFOPQHIN�RSFTU�VGUU�WIFGTWFHSUPIGXE�OY�PFYTEHFZU�FGHSO[UH[KGUQ��\IG]UT�FE�F�PFYTEHFZU�TUEOJYUG�F[�̂OY[IYXEQ�_IPKY[UUGUT�̀IG�aIGUE[GL�bUZFG[NUY[�cYId�eYfOGIYNUY[FP�gUEOPOUYHUh�EOYHU�@CDCQ�aIGNUG�TOGUH[IG�Ì�VGUUE�̀IG�iIESUY�c?�LUFGEh�FYT�HKGGUY[�RSFTU�VGUU�WIFGT�NUNjUG�cEOYHU�@C@ChQ�\SOPU�IY�[SU�WIFGT�;�SFfU�FEEOE[UT�dO[S�[SU�TUEOJY�Ì�[SU�kFYIZL�kFPUYTFGl�SUPZUT�̀FHOPO[F[U�F�ZGIZIEUT�ZPFY[OYJ�ZGImUH[�YUFG�nR�AA�FYT�oFTOEIYl�EUGfUT�IY�F�mIOY[�NFG]U[OYJ�HINNO[[UU�dO[S�VGUUE�̀IG�iIESUYl�FYT�Ì ÙGUT�OYZK[�IY�I[SUG�ZGImUH[E�FYT�NIY[SPL�jKEOYUEEQ�

,����pq/
��
��p
�
����3�r��ps����p�
�����
������
���������������pst��������������r��9��
3�������������
���t��������p



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'�.'$".72���#&"��8"09�����8�: ���

;�<=>?�<@AB�CDED>FG�H=F>IC�FJI�K=LL@CC@=JC�AB>=MNB�LO�<=>?�FA�ABD�P@AO�=Q�RG?BF>AS�FC�<DGG�FC�LO�KBM>KBT�U=>LD>GO�<=>?DI�<@AB�ABD�V>DDC�Q=>�W=CBDJ�X=F>I�FJI�=ABD>C�AB>=MNB�YFCA�<=>?�DZYD>@DJKDT�;�AB@J?�A>DDC�H>@JN�F�YGDAB=>F�=Q�HDJDQ@AC�A=�ABD�K=LLMJ@AO�FJI�F>D�F�<=>AB<B@GD�@JEDCALDJAT��;[L�@JAD>DCADI�@J�DZYFJI@JN�W=CBDJ[C�KFJ=YOS�Y>=L=A@JN�ABD�HDJDQ@AC�=Q�A>DDCS�DJBFJK@JN�\MFG@AO�=Q�G@QDS�FJI�@LY>=E@JN�=M>�>DC@IDJAC[�?J=<GDIND�HFCD�AB>=MNB�DIMKFA@=JT�
6�����]���� ����������
���̂��������� 
3���"������
���]
����"��������
�$��9���_6�����]��̀� � 
3�����������������������������������������]
����
���
������
�_



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(8�819����:8;"��9&,<=�-�"
��>? ���

@@ABBACCCCDEFGHIJKKLMN�O�PKQ�RKSTTKUJRQTI


���������������������������������DST�VJW�XIKTSTRKTE�XI�YTXIZ�F�GTGYTS�J[�F�UJRQTI�YJFSE�JS�\JGGXRRXJI]�̂X__�JWK�KQXR�[JSG�KJ�YT�\JIRXETSTE�F�\FIEXEFKT̀�aQT�bXKV�bJWI\X_�FIE�@FVJS�FccJXIK�UJRQTI�STRXETIKR�KJ�YT�GTGYTSR�J[�YJFSER�JS�\JGGXRRXJIR̀�d[�VJW�ITTE�FRRXRKFI\Te�c_TFRT�\JIKF\K�WR�FK�NLfgNhhgihjj̀�7���k
3���������k"��������k�������k���!k



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(8�819����:8;"��9&,<=�-�"
��>? ���

@ABCDADEFGHFEIJGIFKGILMANOOPDBDQHRHSTQDCUPVNQWXBXYXUNZQXAO�[NQQC\CNA] �̂CAOX_X\O\�D_X�Z_XOÔ�\CQZUXP�@�DQ�DA�̀_aDA�BXYXUNZQXAO�DAB�Z̀aUCV�O_DA\ZN_ODOCNA�XAOb̀\CD\Oc�@�UNYX�ObX�VCÔ�Nd�eN\bXA�XYX_�\CAVX�QNYCAT�bX_Xc�DAB�@�fDAO�ON�bXUZ�ObX�VNQQ ÀCÔ�T_Nf�DAB�aXVNQX�QN_X�aXD̀OCd̀U�fbCUX�aXCAT�VCYCVÛ�DVOCYX�D\�D�_X\CBXAOP

-����gh0������g�������4�i��gj����g
�����������������������������gjk��������������i��=���4�����������������k��������g



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(8�819����:8;"��9&,<=�-�"
��>? ���

@A�BCDE�FGHFIDFEJF�DE�CEA�JKLLCMKICNDKE�JKBF�OIKB�BA�NDBF�CN�PEDQFIRDNA�STFIF�SF�UDU�C�BKENTR�LKEV�HIKJFRR�KO�PEUFIRNCEUDEV�C�LKJCL�JDNDFR�HPMLDJ�NICERHKINCNDKE�RARNFBW�BFN�SDNT�NTF�UDIFJNKI�KO�NTF�CVFEJAW�CEU�NTFE�SIKNF�C�IFHKIN�KE�TKS�NTCN�CVFEJA�COOFJNR�NTF�LKJCL�CIFCX�YFRDUFR�NTCN�Z�VFN�QFA�FGJDNFU�CN�NTF�DUFC�KO�MFDEV�CMLF�NK�SKI[�SDNT�KNTFIR�DE�NTF�JKBBPEDNA�NK�SKI[�KE�CEA�HLCER�KI�DBHIKQFBFENR�OKI�KPI�TKBFXZ\B�BCDELA�DENFIFRNFU�DE�HCINDJDHCNDEV�MCRFU�KE�STCN�Z�TCQF�CLIFCUA�RCDU�CMKPN�JKBBPEDNA�DBHIKQFBFENX�Z�SCEN�NK�SKI[�OKI�NTF�JKBBPEDNA�DE�CEA�SCA�RTCHF�KI�OKIB�NK�BC[F�]KRTFE�C�TCHHDFI�CEU�TFCLNTDFI�HLCJF�NK�LDQF�CEU�UFQFLKHBFEN�DR�CE�DBHKINCEN�HCIN�KO�NTCN�VKCLX�
7�����̂����!��������������_���������!�4���#����������̂�����#����������%��=���̀
7�����̂��;�!�!�4�����������������������������������������̂������������������̀



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(820.�79#�2#:13�$��;14�
0.;� �< ���

==>??>@@@@ABCDEFGHIBJHBKLKK�MEJNOHHC�?DP�QHJIEB


���������������������������������ADE�RHS�TBNEDEJNEC�TB�UETBV�F�WEWUED�HX�F�QHJIEB�UHFDC�HD�YHWWTJJTHBZ�[T\\�HSN�NITJ�XHDW�NH�UE�YHBJTCEDEC�F�YFBCTCFNEP�]IE�̂TNR�̂HSBYT\�FBC�=FRHD�F__HTBN�QHJIEB�DEJTCEBNJ�NH�UE�WEWUEDJ�HX�UHFDCJ�HD�YHWWTJJTHBJP�̀X�RHS�BEEC�FJJTJNFBYEa�_\EFJE�YHBNFYN�SJ�FN�bcdebffegfhhP�7���i
3���������i"��������i�������i���!i



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(820.�79#�2#:13�$��;14�
0.;� �< ���

=>?@AB@AC?DAEFDCGCHIJKLMINOPPQNRPSJQPJTUVIWXNYPVZMKM[MXP\VMJ]�̂PVVWQQWPJ_̂LLMJ]�VMV M̀L�PO�]SM�̂PVVWQQWPJ_̂LLMJ]�VMV M̀L�PO�]SM�̂PVVWQQWPJ

-����ab0������a�������4�c��a9����a
�����������������������������a9d��������������c��e���4�����������������d��������a7�����c����!��������������d���������!�4���#����������c�����#����������%��e���a



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(820.�79#�2#:13�$��;14�
0.;� �< ���

=>�?@AB�CD�?EB�FCAA@GG@CD�EHG�IBBD�BJK@?@DL�HDM�NBOHNM@DLP�Q�ECRB�?C�KCD?@DSB�GBNT@DL�A>�KCAASD@?>�HG�H�ABAIBN�CU�?EB�VBMBTBWCRABD?�FCAA@GG@CDP7�����X��Y�!�!�4�����������������������������������������X������������������Z



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&
'�(�)���'��*
+(, ��-.)/0123��2�)�����4��������5��+6
'7#3
897��*:1;<�<�2�=$>+,?�@2A ���

BBCDDCEEEEFGHIJKIHLMINOMPQR�STUOM�SIVO�DMLGWKOH


���������������������������������XMO�YGZ�THJOMOWJO[�TH�NOTH\�I�]O]NOM�Ĝ�I�LGWKOH�NGIM[�GM�VG]]TWWTGH_�̀Taa�GZJ�JKTW�̂GM]�JG�NO�VGHWT[OMO[�I�VIH[T[IJOb�cKO�dTJY�dGZHVTa�IH[�BIYGM�IeeGTHJ�LGWKOH�MOWT[OHJW�JG�NO�]O]NOMW�Ĝ�NGIM[W�GM�VG]]TWWTGHWb�f̂�YGZ�HOO[�IWWTWJIHVOg�eaOIWO�VGHJIVJ�ZW�IJ�hRQihjjikjllb�6���m
2���������m"��������m�������m���!m



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&
'�(�)���'��*
+(, ��-.)/0123��2�)�����4��������5��+6
'7#3
897��*:1;<�<�2�=$>+,?�@2A ���

BCDEFCFGHIJHIKGJLMNMKLOPCFQRFCSTUPVPWQXFYYZ[P\]̂D̂_̂UPX\ ĈQ�̀P\\EYYEPCaF_̂�VPbĉD�EC�ÛFD̂bYREX�bPÛY�Xb̂_EPWYUdZ��êb_̂D�PC�fFEbgÊUD�e[RPPU�hPFbD�EC�JNNNiJNNM�EC�VRE[R�V̂ �V̂ b̂�EC_PU_̂D�EC�F�UFbĵ�TWEUDECj�XbPÔ[QZ��B�FUYP�RF_̂�T̂ Ĉ�EC_PU_̂D�VEQR�kEUUbF[̂�̀PRPWYECj�lbPÔ[QZ��B�F\�[Wbb̂CQUd�QR̂�\FCFjECj�\ \̂T̂b�Pg�UP[FU�EC_̂YQ\ ĈQ�jbPWX�YWXXPbQECj�F�gF\EUd�EC�Ĉ D̂�Pg�RPWYECjZ��B�RF_̂�ECQ̂b̂YQ�EC�Ŷ ÊCj�QR̂�[EQd�Pg�mPYR̂C�[PCQECŴ�QP�b̂D̂_̂UPX�QR̂�ECQ̂bEPb�Pg�QR̂�[EQd�FCD�jbPV�EC�F�_EFTÛ�FCD�YWYQFECFTÛ�\FCĈbZ

,����no/������n�������3�p��n?����n
�����������������������������n?>��������������p��q���3�����������������>��������n



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&
'�(�)���'��*
+(, ��-.)/0123��2�)�����4��������5��+6
'7#3
897��*:1;<�<�2�=$>+,?�@2A ���

BCDDEFGH�IJKJLMCNO�CM�F�OEJLP�JQ�CNRCSCRLFDM�TU�RHQCNCVCJN�WJEXCNO�VJOHVKHE�VJWFER�MKFEHR�RHGCMCJN�YFXCNOZ��[�FDMJ�WJEXHR�VJOHVKHE�WCVK�JVKHEM�VJ�EHFGK�OJSHENYHNVFD�RHGCMCJNM�TU�YHYTHEMKCP�FNR�EJDHM�FM��\]�FNR�PEHMCRHNV�JQ�̂FCEQCHDR�_GKJJD�̀JFERZaKCM�TJFER�KFR�F�RCEHGV�EJDH�CN�PEJSCRCNO�JPPJEVLNCVU�QJE�VKH�RHSHDJPYHNV�CN�WKCGK�[�DCSH�bBCDDEFGH�IJKJLMCNOc�FNR�[�FY�VKFNXQLD�QJE�VKFVZ��[�KFSH�CNVHEHMV�CN�SJDLNVHHECNO�VJ�OCSH�TFGX�VJ�VKH�GCVU�CN�F�EJDH�JQ�DHFRHEMKCP�THNHQCVCNO�VKH�GJYYLNCVU�FM�F�WKJDHZ��]DHFMH�NJVHd��[�FY�GLEEHNVDU�CNSJDSHR�CN�F�OEJLP�JQ�CNRCSCRLFDM�GLEEHNVDU�GJNMCRHECNO�EHMPJNRCNO�VJ�FN�LPGJYCNO�ê]�QJE�VKH�BCDDEFGH�aJWNKJYHMZ�_KJLDR�VKHEH�TH�CNVHEHMV�CN�MHDHGVCNO�YH�QJE�VKH�GJYYCMMCJNf�[�YFU�NHHR�VJ�EHGLMH�YUMHDQ�QEJY�THCNO�MHDHGVHR�FM�F�YHYTHE�CQ�WH�YJSH�QJEWFER�EHMPJNRCNO�VJ�VKH�ê]Z��[Q�VCYCNO�CM�FN�CMMLH�THGFLMH�JQ�VKCMf��[�WJLDR�TH�WCDDCNO�VJ�RHQHE�PFEVCGCPFVCNO�QJE�F�UHFE�JE�YJEH�CQ�VKFV�WFM�MLOOHMVHRZ�aJ�TH�GDHFEf�[�RJ�NJV�KFSH�CNVHEHMV�CN�SJDLNVHHECNO�QJE�VKH�GJYYCMMCJN�CN�JERHE�VJ�RCEHGVDU�FRREHMM�VKCM�PFEVCGLDFE�PEJgHGV�NJE�WJLDR�[�WFNV�VJ�FPPHFE�VJ�TH�EHhLHMVCNO�VKCM�PFEVCGCPFVCJN�FM�F�EHMLDV�JQ�YU�PJVHNVCFD�CNVHEHMV�CN�VKH�ê]Z

6�����i����!��������������>���������!�3���#����������i�����#����������%��j���k
6�����i��9�!�!�3�����������������������������������������i������������������k



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�,7�86'98$��-�&�"$*:+8;)�</-�= ���

>>?@@?AAAABCDEFGHGIJGKLKM�NOPEQECFDR�NGSRTCDERS


���������������������������������UIR�VCF�OSQRIRDQRW�OS�JROSP�G�XRXJRI�CY�G�TCDERS�JCGIW�CI�ZCXXODDOCS[�\O]]�CFQ�QEOD�YCIX�QC�JR�ZCSDOWRIRW�G�ZGSWOWGQR̂�_ER�̀OQV�̀CFSZO]�GSW�>GVCI�GaaCOSQ�TCDERS�IRDOWRSQD�QC�JR�XRXJRID�CY�JCGIWD�CI�ZCXXODDOCSD̂�bY�VCF�SRRW�GDDODQGSZRc�a]RGDR�ZCSQGZQ�FD�GQ�dMefdggfhgiî�6���j
2���������j"��������j�������j���!j



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�,7�86'98$��-�&�"$*:+8;)�</-�= ���

>?@ABCACADCEBCFE@GHIJKLMNLMOPMJHHQRHSTHMNU�HV�TWXYUXZ[�\]]̂MYI>�MS�M�_MÌ N̂�aHÛ�bNHV̂IIXHZMY�MI�XIIŴU�LP�̀Ĵ�>Z̀ N̂ZM̀XHZMY�aHÛ�aHWZRXYQ�_P�RWNN̂Z̀�GHL�XI�̀H�N̂cX̂d�LWXYUXZ[I�̀H�̂ZIWN̂�̀ĴP�MN̂�XZ�RHZVHNSMZR̂�dX̀J�̀Ĵ�M]]YXRMLŶ�RHÛI�]NXHN�̀H�RHZÌNWR̀XHZ�RHSS ẐRXZ[Q�>�JMĉ�M�[N̂M̀�XZ̀ N̂̂Ì�XZ�ĴMNXZ[�M]]̂MYI�LNHW[J̀�VHǸJ�L̂VHN̂�̀Ĵ�LHMNU�MZU�dHNeXZ[�dX̀J�H̀ĴN�S ŜL̂NI�RHYYMLHNM̀XĉYP�̀JM̀�UĤIZf̀�RHS]NHSXÎ�YXV̂�IMV̂ P̀Q

,����g;/������g�������3�h��gi����g
�����������������������������gi7��������������h��j���3�����������������7��������g6�����h����!��������������7���������!�3���#����������h�����#����������%��j���g



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�,7�86'98$��-�&�"$*:+8;)�</-�= ���

>�?@AB�C@DEBF�EG�HBE�IDAGJABF�ID�E?B�KGLLMDIEN�@DF�L@OB�@D�ILP@KE�QN�PMEEIDH�LN�ODGCJBFHB�EG�MRB�SGT�E?B�HGGF�GS�UGR?BDV6�����W��X�!�!�3�����������������������������������������W������������������Y



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�7
8��96
$676+�*:�9;�<-%��= ���

>>?@@?AAAABCDEFG>FHDCHIJK�L�MCHDNONFNOCHPCDEQH


���������������������������������RSQ�TCF�OHNQSQDNQU�OH�VQOHW�G�XQXVQS�CY�G�PCDEQH�VCGSU�CS�ZCXXODDOCH[�\O]]�CFN�NEOD�YCSX�NC�VQ�ZCHDOUQSQU�G�ZGHUOUGNQ̂�_EQ�MONT�MCFHZO]�GHU�>GTCS�G̀ C̀OHN�PCDEQH�SQDOUQHND�NC�VQ�XQXVQSD�CY�VCGSUD�CS�ZCXXODDOCHD̂�aY�TCF�HQQU�GDDODNGHZQb�̀]QGDQ�ZCHNGZN�FD�GN�cdIecffegfhĥ�6���i
2���������i"��������i�������i���!i



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�7
8��96
$676+�*:�9;�<-%��= ���

>?@ABCABD@E@FAACCGHIJKILMKJNHOPQGORSLTKGUKOVW�KX�UHRSWRIQ�YZZ[OSJ>�OG�O�SRT[IJ[W�\VKX[JJRKIOS�]IQRI[[V�OIW�̂_VHT_HVOS�]IQRI[[V�RI�CC�J_O_[J�OIW�NÒ[�O�[a_[IJR̀[�[aZ[VR[IT[�RI�W[JRQI�OIW�V[J_KVO_RKI�KX�O�bRW[�̀OVR[_c�KX�dHRSWRIQ�OIW�RIWHJ_VROS�J_VHT_HV[JL��eKV�_N[�SOJ_�TKHZS[�KX�c[OVJ�>�NÒ[�d[[I�RÌKS̀[W�RI�OI�YG[VRTOI�fO_[V�fKVgJ�YJJKTRO_RKI�TKGGR__[[�_OJg[W�bR_N�W[̀[SKZRIQ�O�J_OIWOVW�XKV�_N[�W[JRQI�KX�TKVVHQO_[W�J_[[S�dKS_[W�_OIgJL

,����hi/������h�������3�j��h8����h
�����������������������������h87��������������j��k���3�����������������7��������h6�����j����!��������������7���������!�3���#����������j�����#����������%��k���h



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�7
8��96
$676+�*:�9;�<-%��= ���

>�?@�ABCDEDFCDG�AB�HFABI�@J�FKALL�FDC�CM�NDBDOAC�CPD�QMFPDB�RM@@HBACJS6�����T��U�!�!�3�����������������������������������������T������������������V



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�7���-$8,9&��&���9:;#�3�-:< ���

==>??>@@@@ABCDBEFGHIHFEJKLMN�=BOBPQR�SHTQUDGE


���������������������������������VOG�WQR�FECGOGUCGX�FE�PGFEY�B�ZGZPGO�Q[�B�TQUDGE�PQBOX�QO�\QZZFUUFQE]�̂FHH�QRC�CDFU�[QOZ�CQ�PG�\QEUFXGOGX�B�\BEXFXBCG_�̀DG�aFCW�aQRE\FH�BEX�=BWQO�BbbQFEC�TQUDGE�OGUFXGECU�CQ�PG�ZGZPGOU�Q[�PQBOXU�QO�\QZZFUUFQEU_�c[�WQR�EGGX�BUUFUCBE\Gd�bHGBUG�\QECB\C�RU�BC�efgheiihjiKK_�6���k
2���������k"��������k�������k���!k



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�7���-$8,9&��&���9:;#�3�-:< ���

=>?@ABCDEDF?GEF@CC@HIJKIHLMNNMMONLHOPQRILNSTURVKIWM�XYMM�ZUIYW=�IR�IH�IY[UYL\J�]LJK�I�\̂MTLIN�LHJMYM\J�LH�_Y[IH�̀UYM\JYaS�=�KIbM�]UYOMW�I\�I�TNLR[LHQ�IY[UYL\J�̀UY�\MbMYIN�aMIY\�IHW�]IHJ�JU�TUHJLH_M�JU�NMIYH�IHW�MW_TIJM�UJKMY\�I[U_J�JKM�LR ÛYJIHTM�Ù�JYMM\�LH�U_Y�_Y[IH�NIHW\TÎMS��ZMLHQ�I�̂IYJ�Ù�JKM�VKIWM�XYMM�ZUIYW�L\�\URMJKLHQ�JKIJ�=�]IHJ�JU�WU�JU�̂YUJMTJ�JKM�JYMM\�]M�KIbMc�RLJLQIJM�YL\O�̀UY�KIdIYW�JYMM\�LH�U_Y�TURR_HLJac�IHW�̀LHW�HM]�̂NIHJLHQ�Û ÛYJ_HLJLM\S�

,����e;/������e�������3�7��ef����e
�����������������������������efg��������������7��h���3�����������������g��������e



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��
'+), ��-.*/0123��2�*�����4��������5��+6
(�7���-$8,9&��&���9:;#�3�-:< ���

=�>?@A�?BC?DE�CFGHAI�JK�?�LGAC�EAMMJKN�C>AGA�IALJEJFKE�?GA�O?IA�IJPBFO?MJL?BBD�?KI�LFBBALMJ@ABDQ��RAJKN�?SBA�MF�E>?GA�?KI�IJELTEE�JIA?E�?KI�JEETAE�CJM>�LFBBA?NTAE�JE�M>A�SAEM�GALJPA�UFG�JKUFGOAI�IALJEJFK�O?HJKNQ��=�GALAKMBD�OF@AI�S?LH�MF�VFE>AK�?KI�>?@A�SAAK�?MMAKIJKN�M>A�SF?GI�OAAMJKNE�GANTB?GBDQ��=�CFTBI�BJHA�MF�LFKMGJSTMA�OD�AWPAGJAKLAX�JIA?EX�?KI�AWPAGMJEA�MF�M>A�SF?GI�JK�?�OFGA�FUUJLJ?B�C?DQ��=�L?GA�?�NGA?M�IA?B�?SFTM�FTG�MGAAE�?KI�TKIAGEM?KI�M>A�ALFKFOJLX�?AEM>AMJLX�?KI�>A?BM>�SAKAUJME�?�LFOOTKJMD�AKYFDE�C>AK�M>AD�BJ@A�?OFKNEM�?�CFGHJKN�?KI�CABB�O?JKM?JKAI�TGS?K�L?KFPDQ��
6�����7����!��������������Z���������!�3���#����������7�����#����������%��[���\6�����7��]�!�!�3�����������������������������������������7������������������\



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(�8$9:!;�2��2<=&"<
#
/�7�>0? ���

@@ABBACCCCDEFGHIJKLMNJOLPQRQS�JTU�VW�XY�ZJF[GM�


���������������������������������\WG�]JE�IMNGWGFNGU�IM�HGIM̂�L�_G_HGW�J̀�L�ZJF[GM�HJLWU�JW�VJ__IFFIJMa�bITT�JEN�N[IF�̀JW_�NJ�HG�VJMFIUGWGU�L�VLMUIULNGc�d[G�eIN]�eJEMVIT�LMU�@L]JW�LffJIMN�ZJF[GM�WGFIUGMNF�NJ�HG�_G_HGWF�J̀�HJLWUF�JW�VJ__IFFIJMFc�g̀�]JE�MGGU�LFFIFNLMVGh�fTGLFG�VJMNLVN�EF�LN�iYRjikkjlkQQc�7���m
3���������m"��������m�������m���!m



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(�8$9:!;�2��2<=&"<
#
/�7�>0? ���

@A�BCDECDFGHDBFCCIJKALMNKOPQOR@MESTUK@VWXMU�JKALMNKOPQOR@MESTUK@VWXMU�YZU�K�RPQ@AOQQ�M[AOG�@A�L\O�X@L]�M̂�_MQ\OA�YZU�@ALOGOQLÒ�@A�L\O�MaOA@ATQ�̂MG�GÒObOVMaUOAL�XMUU@QQ@MA�KÀ�L\O�LGOO�QK̀O�RMKG̀W�YZU�@ALGOQLÒ�@A�RML\�M̂�L\MQO�aMQ@L@MAQ�ROXKPQO�Y�\KbO�XMAQLGPXL@MA�RKXc�TGMPÀ�UKQMAG]�LM�RO�OdKXL�RPL�AML�V@U@LÒ�LM�@LW

-����ef0������e�������4�8��e;����e
�����������������������������e;=��������������8��:���4�����������������=��������e



�����������	�
��� 
���������������������������������

�����	������������������ ���������!"��#$%�&'(�)�*���(��+',)- ��./*01234��3�*�����5��������6��,7
(�8$9:!;�2��2<=&"<
#
/�7�>0? ���

@�ABCDE�FG�H�IBBE�JKL�JBM�FBLN�MGEGOGDBPQGRL�SBQQKTTKBR�HRE�LNG�LMGG�TNHEG�FBHMEUVKLN�QW�QHTBRMW�GXPGMKGRSG�HRE�FHSYIMBCRE�@�SBCDE�FG�BJ�IBBE�NGDP�ANGR�KL�SBQGT�LB�BDEGM�FCKDEKRIT�HRE�RGAGM�LBB�HT�AGDD�HT�NHOKRI�GRGMIW�HRE�PHTTKBR�JBM�KQPMBOKRI�LNKRITU�ZRE�JBM�LNG�LMGG�TNHEG�FBHME�@�ABCDE�FG�PHTTKBRHLG�HFBCL�KL�@�MGHDDW�GR[BW�RHLCMG�TB�KL�ABCDE�FG�H�IMGHL�JKLUZT�H�FCTKRGTT�BARGM�@\Q�DBBYKRI�LB�IKOG�FHSY�LB�LNG�SBQQCRKLW�HT�AGDD�HT�EGOGDBPG�MGDHLKBRT�AKLN�HRE�SKLWU�ZDTB�DBBYKRI�LB�HEE�H�JGA�LNKRIT�LB�QW�PBMLJBDKB�HRE�MGHDDW�[CTL�BPGR�HFBCL�LNG�PBTTKFKDKLKGT�HRE�BPPBMLCRKLKGT�LNHL�QKINL�SBQG�CPU
7�����8����!��������������=���������!�4���#����������8�����#����������%��:���]
7�����8��̂�!�!�4�����������������������������������������8������������������]



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��!

71)#8�*09
8�8�)�:�(6�; ���

<<=>>=????@ABCCDBEEBFFGHI�JKALMBA�>ANOPQBR

�
����������
������
������������
�SAB�TOU�LRCBABPCBE�LR�VBLRW�K�MBMVBA�OX�K�NOPQBR�VOKAE�OA�YOMMLPPLORZ�[LFF�OUC�CQLP�XOAM�CO�VB�YORPLEBABE�K�YKRELEKCB\�]QB�̂LCT�̂OURYLF�KRE�<KTOA�K__OLRC�NOPQBR�ABPLEBRCP�CO�VB�MBMVBAP�OX�VOKAEP�OA�YOMMLPPLORP\�̀X�TOU�RBBE�KPPLPCKRYBa�_FBKPB�YORCKYC�UP�KC�bcdebffeGfgg\�6���h
2���������h!��������h�������h��� h



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��!

71)#8�*09
8�8�)�:�(6�; ���

<=>?@A?@B>CD>ECD?>>FGHIIJHKKHLLMNOPQHRSTIUVSOWXYZ<�Q[\H�FHHR�PHG\TRN�OR�IQH�XYZ�]OG�[̂ ĜO_TW[IHLU�?�OG�B�UH[GPV��<�Q[\H�[LJ[UP̀�[RK�PITLL�]HHL�TI�TP�TW ĤG[IT\H�IO�Q[\H�[�ZTIU�ZOaRSTL�bOG�Ac�GĤGHPHRI[IT\HP�OR�IQH�XYZ�KaH�IO�IQH�[WOaRI�O]�WORHU�SOLLHSIHK�\T[�d<e�[RK�IQH�ĜOfHSIP�IQ[I�WORHU�TP�̂aI�IOJ[GKPV��<�Q[\H�[R�H_SHLLHRI�aRKHGPI[RKTRN�O]�d<e�GH\HRaHg�WaRTST̂[L�[PPHPPHK�\[LaH̀�I[_�G[IHP̀�I[_�S[̂P̀�[RK�GH[LThHK�I[_�GH\HRaHV��dQTP�SOW L̂TS[IHK�iROJLHKNH�TP�RHSHPP[GU�]OG�[RUORH�PHG\TRN�ROI�ORLU�OR�SOaRSTL̀�FaI�[LPO�IQH�XYZ�PO�IQ[I�̂GÔHG�KHSTPTORP�S[R�FH�W[KH�OR�][SIP�G[IQHG�IQ[R�j]HHL�NOOK�KHSTPTORPjV��YaH�IO�IJO�GHSHRI�WHWFHGP�bORH�GHWO\HK�[RK�IQH�OIQHG�RO�LORNHG�J[RITRN�IO�PHG\Hc�<�[W�ROJ�IQH�WOPI�IHRaGHK�WHWFHG�O]�IQH�XYZV��<I�JOaLK�[�KHIGTWHRI�IO�LOPH�[RU�WOGH�QTPIOGTS[L�H_̂HGTHRSH�[P�IQHGH�[GH�HROGWOaP�KHSTPTORP�SOWTRN�TR�IQH�RH_I�UH[GP�TR�GHL[ITOR�IO�IQH�XYZV��

,����kl/
��
��k
�
����3�m��kn����k�
�����
������
���������������kno��������������m��p��
3�������������
���o��������k



�����������	���
� �
����������
������
������������
�

�����	���
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%&'�(�)�
�'��*&+(,���-.)/0123��2
)�����4����
���5��+6�'��!

71)#8�*09
8�8�)�:�(6�; ���

<=>?@A�BCDE�B=FAGCH�IJ�E@KL>M�HK>D�N�K>�OL@>CP@ADQ��R@ST@L�=U�D?@�VWBQ��R@ST@L�=U�D?@�XLKUUCG�B=SSC>>C=AQ��Y=KLP�WCL@GD=L�=U�ZKGK>KQ[H@K>@�L@U@L�D=�\F@>DC=A�]I�L@>O=A>@�KT=̂@Q
6�����_���� ����������
���̀��������� 
3���"������
���_
����"��������
�$��a���b6�����_��c� � 
3�����������������������������������������_
����
���
������
�b



������������	�
� �
����������
������
������������
�

���������
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%�&�'�(�
�&��)�*'+���,-(./012��1
(�����3����
���4��*5�&6%*�-�! *�708,�����,.�6�(9(:; ���

<<=>>=????@ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOP�Q�NRG�QRSLKGCM

�
����������
������
������������
�TIC�ALU�EMRCICKRCJ�EM�VCEMW�H�XCXVCI�LY�H�SLKGCM�VLHIJ�LI�FLXXEKKELMZ�[EBB�LUR�RGEK�YLIX�RL�VC�FLMKEJCICJ�H�FHMJEJHRC\�]GC�̂ERA�̂LUMFEB�HMJ�<HALI�H__LEMR�SLKGCM�ICKEJCMRK�RL�VC�XCXVCIK�LY�VLHIJK�LI�FLXXEKKELMK\�̀Y�ALU�MCCJ�HKKEKRHMFCa�_BCHKC�FLMRHFR�UK�HR�PNbcPddcedff\�5���g
1���������g!��������g�������g��� g



������������	�
� �
����������
������
������������
�

���������
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%�&�'�(�
�&��)�*'+���,-(./012��1
(�����3����
���4��*5�&6%*�-�! *�708,�����,.�6�(9(:; ���

<=>?@A?B@CDE@EDFF?GHIJKLHMNOPQHARCASTULIVWJOUXYX<�LU�L�JOUUZPI[\�U]U ]̂H_�̀LH]P[_�LPM�TL\�ULP�VIaIPT�IP�bONK]P�LPM�cOZVM�VIQ]�[O�K]V̀�ULQ]�U\�JOUUZPI[\�UOH]�c]VJOUIPT�dOH�]a]H\OP]<�KLa]�]è]HI]PJ]�IP�H][LIV�ULPLT]U]P[_�JOVVL̂OHL[Ia]V\�ULPLTIPT�IPa]N[U]P[N�cI[K�UZV[ÌV]�OcP]HN_�LPM�IP�LNNIN[IPT�IP�LJ[IaINU�LPM�fHIM]�LJ[IaI[I]NW�

+����g:.
��
��g
�
����2�h��g7����g�
�����
������
���������������g7i��������������h��j��
2�������������
���i��������g5�����h���� ����������
���i��������� 
2���"������
���h
����"��������
�$��j���g



������������	�
� �
����������
������
������������
�

���������
����

�����
���
�������� !��"#$�%�&�'�(�
�&��)�*'+���,-(./012��1
(�����3����
���4��*5�&6%*�-�! *�708,�����,.�6�(9(:; ���

<�=>?@�>AA@BC@C�@?@BAD�EFA�GB�HI�A=@�JKJ�H@LGM@�>BC�NGFOC�OPQ@�AG�=@OE�RGBAMPHFA@�AG�PAD�NGMQS�5�����T��U� � 
2�����������������������������������������T
����
���
������
�V



��������������	
 ��
����
���������������������
����

����������������������������������� ��!"#�$�%
&�'���%��(�)&*���+,'-./01
�0�'�����2��������3��)4�%5�
��6+1�*��78���"9):�/;'<��= ���

>>?@@?AAAABCDEDFGHDIJK�L�MNOP�LOQGRPSC

��
����
���������������������
����BHS�TGU�VCOSHSROSW�VC�XSVCY�D�FSFXSH�GZ�D�QGRPSC�XGDHW�GH�[GFFVRRVGC\�]V̂̂�GUO�OPVR�ZGHF�OG�XS�[GCRVWSHSW�D�[DCWVWDOS_�̀PS�aVOT�aGUC[V̂�DCW�>DTGH�DbbGVCO�QGRPSC�HSRVWSCOR�OG�XS�FSFXSHR�GZ�XGDHWR�GH�[GFFVRRVGCR_�cZ�TGU�CSSW�DRRVRODC[Sd�b̂SDRS�[GCOD[O�UR�DO�efKgeIIghIJJ_�4
��i
0������
��i 
����
��i�������i����i



��������������	
 ��
����
���������������������
����

����������������������������������� ��!"#�$�%
&�'���%��(�)&*���+,'-./01
�0�'�����2��������3��)4�%5�
��6+1�*��78���"9):�/;'<��= ���

>?@ABCDEFACGC@CB@HIHJHKLMHNCGCFOPKHQRSTLKUVU>�WHXY�XLRZI[YYMY\�QI�K]�̂L_WYI�TLKKZIQ[]�YXYM�_QITY�K]�̀HMYI[_�aMLZPW[�KY�WYMY�H[�[WY�HPY�Lb�cd�Q[�_[HM[Y\�H[�TWZMTW�[WYI�WYR̀QIP�eQRQHIH�fZQI[YML�HI\�_KHRR�[WQIP_�WYMY�HI\�[WYMYS�g]�bHXLMQ[Y�Q_�WYR̀QIP�K]�TLKKZIQ[]�LIY�a]�LIY�hWYI�[WY]�MYHTW�LZ[�[L�KY�bLM�iZY_[QLI_�aYTHZ_Y�>jXY�PL[[YI�[L�kILh�_L�KHI]�LI�ỲM_LIHR�RYXYR_�HI\�[WYQM�kQ\_d�Y[TS�l_�H�TLKKZIQ[]�Lb�̂L_WYI�>�RLXY�[WH[�hWYIYXYM�>�WHXY�iZY_[QLI_�LM�hHI[�[L�TLLk�_LKY[WQIP�bMLK�[WYQM�TLZI[M]�[WY]�hQRR�[YHTW�KYS�>�HK�H�̀MLZ\�gYmQTHI�MHQ_QIP�H�bHKQR]�WYMY�[WH[�RLXY_�[WQ_�TLKKZIQ[]�HI\�WH_�_YYI�Q[�TWHIPY�_L�KZTW�[WMLZPW�[WY�]YHM_d�aZ[�[WYMYj_�_[QRR�_L�KHI]�[WQIP_�L̂_WYI�IYY\_�[L�WYHM�bMLK�[WY�̀YL̀RY�RQXQIP�QI�Q[d�[WY�̀YL̀RY�hLMkQIP�bLM�Q[d�[WY�̀YL̀RY�aZQR\QIP�̂L_WYI�>�MYHRR]�WL̀Y�[WH[�hY�THI�HRR�hLMk�[LPY[WYM�HI\�aY�HaRY�[L�aY�hYRTLKQIP�[L�\QbbYMYI[�TLZI[MQY_�]Y[�_[QRR�bYYR�H[�WLKYS�

*�
��n8-	�����n	������1�<��no�
��n��
���������������������������nop��
������
����<
�7���1�����������������p��������n



��������������	
 ��
����
���������������������
����

����������������������������������� ��!"#�$�%
&�'���%��(�)&*���+,'-./01
�0�'�����2��������3��)4�%5�
��6+1�*��78���"9):�/;'<��= ���

>?@ABCDDEFBGH�IJK�LMA@C�N�N�J?OOABFCP�IMAQRCF?BH�SRMF?�KCRCF?B�T?UC�VFCW�XRBBP�J?ECDYH�XDMFQR@�ZBCDE[EDCDE�D\[DEFDBQDH�WD@[FBG�BDV�FOOFGERBCU�VFCW�EDU?AEQDU]�Z�WR̂D�B?C�WDREM�?_�CWFU�[?UFCF?BH�̀RAE?�aABFGR�FU�CWD�?BD�VW?�EDQ?OODBMDM�FC�C?�OD]�Z�DORF@DM�Lb�cD@GRMF@@?�UD̂DER@�O?BCWU�RG?�dAC�VD�@?UC�Q?OOABFQRCF?B]�XP�?B@P�Q?BQDEB�Rd?AC�JSJ�FU�W?V�DCWFQ�QRB�Z�dDe�fF@@�Z�dD�Rd@D�C?�D\[EDUU�VWRC�OP�Q?OOABFCP�WRU�dDDB�Q?BQDEB�VFCW�RBM�F_�U?�VF@@�VD�WD@[�?E�FU�JSJ�FU�gAUC�_?E�UW?Ve�Z_�B?C�Z�VF@@�@?̂D�C?�dD�Rd@D�C?�dD�CWD�̂?FQD�?_�ORBP�[D?[@D�VW?�Q?OD�C?�OD�VFCW�hADUCF?BUH�Q?BQDEBUH�RBM�RBPCWFBG�ED@RCDM�C?�CWFU�Q?OOABFCP]�
4�����<��
����������������i�����������1��
!���������
<��
��!����������#�
7���j4�����<��;�����1�
������������������
������
�������������<�
����������������j



\\gcshared-3\clerktreas-u$\richardaguirre\Desktop\2023.01.23 City Council Memo - Stormwater User Fee Ordinance 2nd Reading.doc 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Goshen City Council    
 
FROM: Jason Kauffman, Stormwater Coordinator, Stormwater Department 
 
RE: SECOND READING OF ORDINANCE 5144 – REVISION OF STORMWATER 

USER FEE FOR THE GOSHEN DEPARTMENT OF STORMWATER 
MANAGEMENT  

 (JN: 2002-0039) 
 
DATE: January 23, 2023 
 
 
During the City Council’s December 19, 2022, meeting Ordinance 5144 Revision of Stormwater 
User Fee for the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management was discussed and the Council 
passed the Ordinance on first reading. It was decided to hold the second reading of Ordinance 
5144 until the City Council’s January 23, 2023, meeting.  
 
Following any further discussion by the Council this evening the Goshen Stormwater 
Department requests the City Council vote on the second reading of Ordinance 5144 Revision of 
Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen Department of Stormwater Management.  
 
 
As a reminder the Greater Elkhart County Stormwater Partnership MS4 Advisory Board met on 
November 17, 2022, and resolved to recommend the user fee be increased over three phrases as 
follows: $22.05 per year per ERU starting with billing in calendar year 2023; $29.10 per year per 
ERU starting with billing in calendar year 2026; and $36.10 per year per ERU starting with 
billing in calendar year 2029. This phased fee increase reflects the recommendations from a rate 
study completed by Baker Tilly US, LLP. 
 
In addition, on November 21, 2022, the Goshen Stormwater Board held a public hearing on 
proposed Resolution No. 2022-01 Revision of Stormwater User Fees for the Goshen Department 
of Stormwater Management and after hearing no public comment adopted the Resolution. 
 



1 

ORDINANCE 5144 

REVISION OF STORMWATER USER FEES FOR THE 
GOSHEN DEPARTMENT OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code ' 36-1-3-1 et seq. permits any unit in the State of Indiana to 
exercise any power or to perform any function necessary to the public interest in the context of 
its governmental or internal affairs, which is not prohibited by the Constitution of the United 
States or of the State of Indiana, or denied or pre-empted by any other law, or is not expressly 
granted by any other law to another governmental entity; 

WHEREAS, the Goshen Common Council, by Ordinance 4295 adopted May 17, 2005, 
established the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater1 Management; 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management is a utility 
pursuant to the provisions of Indiana Code 8-1.5-5 and authorized to establish stormwater user 
fees pursuant to said statutes; 

WHEREAS, all of the territory located within the corporate boundaries of the City of 
Goshen is subject to the jurisdiction of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater 
Management and constitutes a special taxing district for the purpose of providing for the 
collection and disposal of stormwater of the district in a manner that protects the public health 
and welfare; 

WHEREAS, all of the territory in the district is considered to have received a special 
benefit from the stormwater collection and disposal facilities of the district, education, water 
quality monitoring, and National Pollution Discharge Elimination System program compliance 
equal to or greater than the utility fees imposed on the territory under Indiana Code 8-1.5-5 in 
order to pay all or part of the costs of such facilities and programs; 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) entities comprising the 
Greater Elkhart County MS4 Partnership — City of Elkhart, City of Goshen, Town of Bristol, 
and County of Elkhart — entered into an Interlocal Agreement, recorded with the Elkhart 
County Recorder’s Office as Instrument No. 2006-04747 (“Interlocal Agreement”) effective on 
October 8, 2005, which established a multi-jurisdiction advisory board to establish uniform rates 
across all MS4 Partnership entities; 

WHEREAS, the Interlocal Agreement was approved by all MS4 entities and their 
respective legislative and executive bodies, including approval by the City of Goshen Common 
Council on August 3, 2005; 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code § 8-1.5-5-7 requires that every Department of Stormwater 
Management charge a user fee equal to the minimum amount necessary for the operation and 

1 Stormwater is sometimes referred to as storm water, but for the purposes of this Ordinance, both terms will have 
the same meaning. 



 

 
2 

maintenance of the stormwater system; 

WHEREAS, the Greater Elkhart County MS4 Partnership retained Baker Tilly US, LLP to 
perform a rate analysis to determine whether the minimum amount necessary for the operation 
and maintenance of the stormwater system has increased since 2006 and, if so, what is the 
current minimum amount necessary; 

WHEREAS, the Board of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management 
introduced Resolution 2022-01 with terms substantially identical to this Ordinance, advertised a 
public hearing in accordance with the provisions of Indiana Code 5-3-1 with publication in The 
Goshen News and has conducted a public hearing on November 21, 2022, with respect to the 
stormwater user fees to be assessed and collected pursuant to the terms and provisions of the 
Board’s Resolution; 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management has reviewed 
the current costs of operating and maintaining the stormwater system along with the rate study 
prepared by Baker Tilly US, LLP and found that it is necessary to amend the City’s rate 
structure and stormwater user fees; 

WHEREAS the Board of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management has 
found and determined that the user fees to be assessed and collected pursuant to the Board’s 
Resolution 2022-01 are the minimum amount necessary for the operation and maintenance of 
the stormwater system within the City of Goshen, Indiana, and therefore adopted Resolution 
2022-01 on November 21, 2022; and 

WHEREAS pursuant to Indiana Code ' 8-1.5-5-7(b), the Goshen Common Council is 
required to approve the stormwater user fees to be assessed and collected pursuant to the 
Board’s Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED, ESTABLISHED, AND ORDAINED that the 
Goshen Common Council approves the stormwater user fees to be assessed and collected, and 
amends Ordinance 4624, as amended, to read as follows: 

1. Stormwater User Fee. 

A stormwater user fee shall be imposed on each and every tax parcel of real estate 
within the City of Goshen, Indiana which directly or indirectly contributes to the stormwater 
system of the City of Goshen, which charge shall be assessed against the owner, who shall be 
considered the user for purposes of the Resolution of the Board of the City of Goshen 
Department of Stormwater Management and this Ordinance.  This charge is deemed to be 
reasonable and necessary to pay for the regulation, planning, operation, maintenance, repair, 
replacement, and improvement of the existing and future City of Goshen stormwater system. 

2. Stormwater Rates. 

Until December 31, 2022, the stormwater user fees will remain at the rate of Fifteen 



 

 
3 

Dollars ($15.00) per year per ERU.  Starting with billing in calendar year 2023, the stormwater 
user fees will be Twenty-Two and 05/100 Dollars ($22.05) per year per ERU.  Starting with 
billing in calendar year 2026, the stormwater user fees will be Twenty-Nine and 10/100 Dollars 
($29.10) per year per ERU.  Starting with billing in calendar year 2029, the stormwater user fees 
will be Thirty-Six and 10/100 Dollars ($36.10) per year per ERU.  The above stormwater rates 
are designed to cover the cost of rendering stormwater service to the users of the City of Goshen 
stormwater system and will be the basis for the assessment of the stormwater user fee.  The 
rates above are established so as to maintain adequate fund reserves to provide for reasonably 
expected variations in the cost of providing services, variations in the requirements for 
providing such services, as well as future improvements and capital needs.  These rates may be 
evaluated and adjusted, as necessary, with regard to their sufficiency to satisfy the needs of the 
City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management; otherwise, these rates will remain in 
effect. 

3. Fee Structure and Calculation. 

a. There is assessed a stormwater user fee to each owner of residential real estate 
and non-residential real estate located within the City of Goshen, Indiana which 
contain impervious area.  The fee is based upon the assigned ERU as 
determined below.  Such user fee shall be calculated and assessed each year on a 
tax parcel basis. 

b. All real estate having impervious area within the corporate boundaries of the 
City of Goshen, Indiana will be assigned an ERU in accordance with the 
following provisions: 

i. Residential Real Estate.  A residential tax parcel containing three (3) or 
less dwelling units shall be assigned one (1) ERU.  Residential tax parcels 
containing more than three (3) dwelling units shall be assigned an ERU 
based upon the parcel’s individually measured impervious area in square 
feet divided by three thousand six hundred (3,600) square feet.  This 
division will be calculated and rounded to the first decimal place. 

ii. Non-Residential Real Estate.  Each tax parcel of non-residential real 
estate shall be assigned an ERU based upon the parcel’s individually 
measured impervious area in square feet divided by three thousand six 
hundred (3,600) square feet.  This division will be calculated and 
rounded to the first decimal place. 

iii. The identification of real estate tax parcels and key numbers, the 
classification of primary use, the determination of whether a tax parcel 
contains a dwelling unit, the number of dwelling units a tax parcel 
contains, and the classification of the type of dwelling unit and type of 
real estate shall be based upon the existing data in the computerized 



 

 
4 

system used by the Elkhart County Auditor to generate tax assessment 
information for the respective determination date used for making the 
stormwater user fee assessments.  The calculation of the individually 
measured impervious area on a tax parcel shall be computed using a scale 
of 1:600 based upon the existing data in the Elkhart County geographic 
information system (GIS) database for the respective determination date 
used for making the stormwater user fee assessments.  If for any reason 
the calculation of the individually measured impervious area on a tax 
parcel cannot be accurately computed using a scale of 1:600 based upon 
the existing data in the Elkhart County GIS database for the respective 
determination date, the calculation of the individually measured 
impervious area on a tax parcel shall be computed in the following order 
of priority: 

1. using a scale of 1:600, based upon the existing data in the most 
recent Elkhart County GIS database prior to the respective 
determination date used for making the stormwater user fee 
assessments; or 

2. based upon the existing data in the Elkhart County Auditor’s 
system database for the respective determination date used for 
making the stormwater user fee assessments. 

The individually measured impervious area on a tax parcel computed in 
accordance with the provisions above may be adjusted based upon the 
data from any permitted construction, additions, demolitions, and other 
changes on a tax parcel which occur after the date of the aerial 
photography utilized in the Elkhart County GIS database or based upon 
the actual verified conditions on the tax parcel, or both. 

iv. For each current year stormwater user fee assessment, the determination 
date shall be March 1st of the prior year. 

c. The assessment for any tax parcel with a calculated stormwater user fee equal to 
or less than Two and 25/100 Dollars ($2.25) will be waived.  There shall be no 
other exceptions or exemptions from the assignment of ERUs and the assessment 
of a stormwater user fee for a particular type or classification of real estate tax 
parcel within the City of Goshen, Indiana. 

4. Collection of User Fees. 

a. The collection of the stormwater user fees authorized by the Resolution of the 
Board of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management and this 
Ordinance shall be effectuated through a charge appearing each year on the 
property tax statements of the affected property owner.  One-half (2) of the 



 

 
5 

stormwater user fee charged each year for a real estate tax parcel shall be billed 
on each of the spring and fall property tax statements for that parcel.  The user 
fee shall be due and payable at the same time as the property taxes appearing on 
the spring and fall property tax statements are due and payable.   In the event 
only one (1) property tax statement is billed for a real estate tax parcel, the entire 
annual stormwater user fee for that parcel authorized by the Board’s Resolution 
and this Ordinance shall be billed on that property tax statement which shall be 
due and payable at the same time as the property taxes appearing on the 
property tax statement are due and payable. 

b. If the user fee is not paid when due, the user shall be charged and assessed a late 
payment penalty by the Elkhart County Treasurer in the same way and in the 
same manner that delinquent property taxes are charged and assessed. 

c. If the user fee and penalty is not paid when due, they shall be collected by the 
Elkhart County Treasurer in the same way that delinquent property taxes are 
collected. 

5. Appeals of ERU Determination. 

a. If, in the opinion of any user, the ERU assigned to the user’s real estate tax parcel 
is inaccurate in light of the number of dwellings or amount of impervious area 
on the property, the user shall have the right to contest the ERU determination 
and thus the stormwater user fee assessed in accordance with the provisions 
contained in this section. 

b. The user shall obtain and complete a Petition to Appeal Stormwater Assessment 
Form which shall be filed with the City of Goshen Stormwater Department with 
verifiable documentation supporting the user’s claim.  To be timely for any 
current year stormwater user fee assessment, a Petition to Appeal must be filed 
no later than the date on which the spring installment of the user fee shall be due 
and payable.  The City of Goshen Stormwater Coordinator shall refer the 
petition to the City of Goshen Stormwater Board. 

c. The City of Goshen Stormwater Department shall investigate the user’s claim 
and, upon review, shall render a written determination that either the original 
ERU determination and assessment should be affirmed or that the user’s rate 
should be adjusted and how much the adjustment should be. 

d. The determination made by the City of Goshen Stormwater Department shall be 
forwarded to the user by certified mail, return receipt requested.  The user shall 
have fifteen (15) days from date of receipt to request reconsideration if 
dissatisfied with the decision from the City of Goshen Stormwater Department.  
Any additional facts concerning the dispute shall be reduced to writing and 



 

 
6 

submitted, along with a copy of the original petition and supporting documents, 
to the City of Goshen Stormwater Coordinator.  The City of Goshen Stormwater 
Coordinator shall refer the matter to the Board of the City of Goshen Department 
of Stormwater Management.  The City of Goshen Stormwater Coordinator shall 
submit a written report of the determination in the case, along with any 
documents used, in denying the user’s claim or in recommending an adjustment. 

e. Thereafter, the Board of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater 
Management shall review all documentation and conduct an informal hearing to 
determine and resolve the dispute based upon the documentation submitted and 
any oral testimony.  The Board shall issue a determination which shall be 
binding upon the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management and 
the user.  The hearing shall be recorded and the minutes of the hearing provided 
upon request at a cost per page as determined by the Secretary for the Board 
which rate shall be amended from time to time. 

f. Any user aggrieved by the final Board determination shall have the right to 
judicial review of such determination in accordance with Indiana law. 

g. If a user’s stormwater user fee assessment is reduced or eliminated by the Board 
of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater Management or court of law, 
the user shall be refunded accordingly for any overpayment made from the 
earlier of the date the stormwater user fee assessment was paid or was due and 
payable. 

h. A dispute or appeal of an ERU determination for stormwater user fee assessment 
shall not be a valid reason for non-payment of the originally assessed stormwater 
user fee. 

6. Stormwater Utility Fund. 

All stormwater user fees and penalties collected and interest earned thereon shall be 
deposited in the MS4 Stormwater Utility Fund. 

7. Definitions. 

For purposes of the Resolution of the Board of the City of Goshen Department of 
Stormwater Management and this Ordinance, the following definitions shall apply unless the 
context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning: 

a. Equivalent Residential Unit (ERU).  The number of units, equal to the assumed 
average amount of impervious area of a single-family residential parcel of real 
estate within the City of Goshen, Indiana, which is established at three thousand 
six hundred (3,600) square feet of impervious area.  The unit value, which will 
be carried out and rounded off to one (1) decimal place, being the equivalent of 



 

 
7 

one-tenth (0.1) of an ERU, is also the basis for calculating the assessment of 
stormwater user fees for the City of Goshen stormwater system. 

b. Impervious Area.  Those areas which prevent or impede the infiltration of 
stormwater into the soil as it enters under natural conditions prior to 
development.  Common impervious areas include, but are not limited to roof 
tops, sidewalks, walkways, patio areas, driveways, parking lots, storage areas, 
gravel surfaces, awnings and other fabric or plastic coverings, and other surfaces 
which prevent or impede the natural infiltration of stormwater run-off which 
existed prior to development. 

c. Non-Residential Real Estate.  All real estate tax parcels which are not described 
by the definition of residential real estate shall be defined as non-residential.  
Non-residential real estate will include: 

i. Agricultural real estate; 

ii. Commercial real estate; 

iii. Industrial real estate; 

iv. Institutional real estate; 

v. Church real estate; 

vi. School real estate; 

vii. Federal, state, and local government real estate; 

viii. Utility real estate; and 

ix. Any other real estate not mentioned in this list and which is not described 
by the definition of residential real estate. 

d. Residential Real Estate.  A separate tax parcel of real estate which is primarily 
used for dwelling purposes on which a building is situated which building 
contains one (1) or more dwelling units which dwelling units are each used or 
are intended to be used primarily for living, sleeping, cooking, and eating.  
Residential real estate shall include all types of dwelling units including single-
family homes, duplexes, triplexes, and row type homes.  Residential real estate 
shall also include condominium dwellings, apartment dwellings, and mobile 
home parks. 

8. Repeal of Prior Ordinances. 

All resolutions, or parts thereof, that are inconsistent, or conflict, with the terms of this 
resolution are repealed to the extent of the inconsistency or conflict. 

9. Severability. 



8 

If any provision of this ordinance shall be held invalid, such provision shall be deemed 
severable and the invalidity thereof shall not affect the remaining provisions of this ordinance. 

10. Effective Date.

The Resolution of the Board of the City of Goshen Department of Stormwater
Management and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval and adoption according to the laws of the State of Indiana.  This Ordinance is 
effective on February 1, 2023, so long as (1) it is approved by the City of Goshen Common 
Council and (2) a similar ordinance applying the same rate increases outlined in Section 2 above 
is approved by the Elkhart County Commissioners and Elkhart County Council, as well as the 
Town of Bristol, and the City of Elkhart. 

PASSED by the Common Council of the City of Goshen on December , 2022. 

Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on the day of 
, 2022, at the hour of _____:_____ ___.m. 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on the day of , 2022. 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



 

Memorandum 
 

TO:  City Council 
      
FROM: Becky Hutsell, Redevelopment Director 
 
RE:  Adoption of a Resolution Approving the Order of the Goshen Plan Commission related 

to the Creation of a New Housing Allocation Area within the Southeast Economic 
Development Area 

   
DATE:  January 9, 2023    
 

 
On December 13, 2022, the Goshen Redevelopment Commission passed Resolution 60-2022, which 
was the first step in establishing the City of Goshen’s first Residential TIF. The location includes 
approximately 170-acres south of Regent Street, west of Dierdorff Road and north of Waterford Mills 
Parkway. The land is currently farmland and has been slated for development for nearly 10 years. A 
recent rezoning from Industrial M-1 PUD to Residential R-3 has been completed to allow for the 
residential project to move forward. 
Resolution 60-2022 confirmed that the Redevelopment Commission desires to remove these 
particular parcels from the existing Southeast Allocation Area and to then establish those parcels as a 
new Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area. Because of outstanding debt within the Southeast TIF, 
the resolution also confirms that the alteration to the existing boundaries does not adversely affect the 
existing outstanding obligations. The resolution further states that the Commission finds that the 
public health and welfare will be benefited by the accomplishment of the Housing Program by:  

i. providing additional housing options to attract new residents to the community and retain 
existing residents that are looking for new housing options in their community; 

ii. increasing the property tax base; and  
iii. through the development of an approximately 170-acre area, to support residential 

development including single-family residential housing, along with townhomes, duplexes, 
condominiums and apartments, allowing more residents the opportunity to live and work 
within the City.  

On December 20, 2022, the Goshen Plan Commission issued an order confirming that the Amending 
Declaratory Resolution and Housing Program conform to the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 
approved both the resolution and the Housing Program. We’re requesting that the City Council adopt 
Resolution 2023-01 approving the Order of the Goshen Plan Commission related to the creation of a 
new housing allocation area within the Southeast Economic Development Area.  
If approved by the Council, a public hearing will be held before the Redevelopment Commission on 
Tuesday, January 10th, regarding this matter prior to adoption of a Confirmatory Resolution finalizing 
the establishment of the new housing allocation area.  



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-01 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN APPROVING THE ORDER OF THE GOSHEN PLAN 
COMMISSION 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen ("City") Redevelopment Commission ("Commission") 
adopted a declaratory resolution on August 14, 2012, as supplemented and amended to date 
(collectively, as amended "Declaratory Resolution"), as confirmed by a confirmatory resolution 
adopted on November 13, 2012, as supplemented and amended to date (collectively, as amended, 
"Confirmatory Resolution" and collectively with the Declaratory Resolution the "Area 
Resolution"), establishing, consolidating and expanding the Southeast Economic Development 
Area ("Original Area") and the Southeast Allocation Area in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39 
("Original Allocation Area");  and 

WHEREAS, on December 13, 2022 the Commission adopted a resolution amending the 
Area Resolution ("Amending Declaratory Resolution") to: (i) reduce the Original Allocation Area 
by removing the area identified on the map in Exhibit A attached thereto and incorporated therein 
from the Original Allocation Area (as reduced, will continue to be known as the "Southeast 
Allocation Area") and designating such new area as the Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area; 
and (ii) pursuant to IC 36-7-14-53 through -56, approve the residential Housing Program attached 
thereto as Exhibit B ("Housing Program"), including the construction of road infrastructure, utility 
infrastructure and sidewalks, together with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements and 
equipment, needed to support the proposed development in the Housing Program in, serving or 
benefiting the Original Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Goshen Plan Commission ("Plan Commission") adopted an order on 
December 20, 2022 finding that the Amending Declaratory Resolution and Housing Program 
conform to the plan of development for the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Act requires approval of the action of the Plan Commission by the 
Common Council of the City prior to the Commission holding a public hearing on the 
amendments; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF GOSHEN, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. The action of the Plan Commission on December 20, 2023 is hereby in all 
respects approved by the Common Council. 

Section 2. The Amending Declaratory Resolution and Housing Program are hereby in 
all respects approved by the Common Council. 

Section 3. The Clerk-Treasurer is hereby directed to file a copy of the Amending 
Declaratory Resolution, the Housing Program and the approving Order of the Plan Commission 
with the permanent minutes of this meeting. 

Section 4. This resolution shall be effective from and after its passage. 



- 2 - 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana, this 
9th day of January, 2023. 

 
COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOSHEN, INDIANA 
 
_______________________________________ 
Presiding Officer 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Clerk-Treasurer 
 
 
 

Presented by me to the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, on the _____ day of January, 

2023, at __:__ _.m. 

 
   
Clerk-Treasurer 

 
Signed and approved by me, the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, this ____ day of 

January, 2023, at __:__ _.m. 

 
   
Mayor 

 
 







RESOLUTION NO. 60-2022 

AMENDING DECLARATORY RESOLUTION OF THE GOSHEN 
REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION CREA TING A NEW HOUSING 
ALLOCATION AREA WITHIN THE SOUTHEAST ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT AREA 

WHEREAS, the Goshen ("City") Redevelopment Commission ("Commission") adopted a 
declaratory resolution on August 14, 2012, as supplemented and amended to date (collectively, as 
amended "Declaratory Resolution"), as confirmed by a confirmatory resolution adopted on 
November 13, 2012, as supplemented and amended to date (collectively, as amended, 
"Confirmatory Reso lution"), establishing and consolidating the Southeast Economic Development 
Area ("Original Area"); 

WHEREAS, the Declaratory Resolution and the Confirmatory Resolution are hereinafter 
collectively referred to as the "Area Resolution;" 

WHEREAS, the Area Resolution approved the Economic Development Plan, as amended 
(collectively, as amended, "Original Plan") which Original Plan contained specifi c 
recommendations for economic development in the Original Area; 

WHEREAS, the Area Resolution designated, consolidated and expanded the Southeast 
Allocation Area in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39 ("Original Allocation Area"), for the purpose 
of capturing property taxes generated from the incremental assessed value of real property located 
in the Original A llocation Area; 

WHEREAS, the Commission has certain outstanding; (i) Redevelopment District 
Refunding Bonds of 2015, dated February 26, 2015, now outstanding in the amount of$1,255,000 
and maturing annually on January 1 over a period ending January l , 2025, as authorized by 
reso lution ("2015 Resolution"), payable from tax increment collected in the Original Allocation 
Area ("Tax Increment"); and (ii) the pledge of the Tax Increment collected in the Original 
Allocation Area to the payment of lease rentals pursuant to a Lease Agreement, dated April 25, 
2015, as amended by Amendment No. I to Lease, dated May 18, 2015 (collectively, as amended, 
"2015 Lease"), between the Goshen Redevelopment Authority ("Authority") and the Commission 
securing the Authority's Economic Development Lease Rental Refunding Bonds of 2015, dated 
June 19, 2015, now outstanding in the amount of $3,440,000, and which 2015 Lease is payable 
semiannually on January 1 and July I over a period ending January I , 2028 (collectively, 
"Outstanding Obligations"); 

WHEREAS, neither the 2015 Resolution nor the 2015 Lease, each authorizing the 
Outstanding Obligations, prohibit the a lteration of the Original Allocation Area if, in the judgment 
of the Commission, the alteration does not adversely affect the owners of the Outstanding 
Obligations in any material way; 

WHEREAS, the Commission now desires to amend the Area Reso lution to: (i) reduce the 
Original Allocation Area by removing the area identified on the map in Exhibit A attached hereto 
and incorporated herein from the Original Allocation Area (as reduced, will continue to be known 
as the "Southeast Allocation Area") and designating such new area as the Southeast Housing TIF 

4892-4037-1 007.1 



Allocation Area; and (ii) pursuant to IC 36-7-14-53 through -56, approve the residential Housing 
Program attached hereto as Exhibit B ("Housing Program"), including the construction of road 
infrastructure, utility infrastructure and sidewalks, together with all necessary appurtenances, 
related improvements and equipment, needed to support the proposed development in the Housing 
Program ("Projects") in, serving or benefiting the Original Area; 

WHEREAS, the Southeast Allocation Area shall maintain the same base assessment date 
as the Original Allocation Area; 

WHEREAS, the Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area shall have a base assessment date 
of January 1, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, IC 36-7-14-17 .5 authorizes the Commission to amend the Area Resolution 
after conducting a public hearing, if it finds that: 

(a) The amendments are reasonable and appropriate when considered m 
relation to the Original Area Resolution and the purposes ofIC 36-7-14; and 

(b) The Original Area Resolution conforms to the comprehensive plan for the 
City; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOSHEN REDEVELOPMENT 
COMMISSION, THAT: 

Section 1. The Area Resolution is hereby amended to: (i) reduce the Original 
Allocation Area by removing the area identified on the map in Exhibit A attached hereto and 
incorporated herein from the Original Area (as reduced, will continue to be known as the 
"Southeast Allocation Area") and designating such new area as the Southeast Housing TIF 
Allocation Area; and (ii) approve the Housing Program attached hereto as Exhibit B, including the 
construction of the Projects, in, serving or benefiting the Original Area 

Section 2. The Commission hereby finds that: (i) the current assessed value in the 
proposed Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area is $172,700; (ii) the current estimated property 
tax revenue from the proposed Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area is $0.00; (iii) the Tax 
Increment estimated to be generated in the Original Allocation Area exceeds 773% of the debt 
service due on the Outstanding Obligations; and (iv) additional growth has occurred in the Original 
Allocation Area subsequent to issuance of the Outstanding Obligations and, therefore, the 
Commission further finds that altering the Original Allocation Area in the manner set forth herein 
will not adversely affect the owners of the Outstanding Obligations in any material way. 

Section 3. The Commission finds that the Housing Program will be of public utility 
and benefit as measured by the provision of a variety of residential housing and an increase in the 
property tax base. The Commission further finds that the public health and welfare will be 
benefited by the accomplishment of the Housing Program by: (i) providing additional housing 
options to attract new residents to the community and retain existing residents that are looking for 
new housing options in their community; (ii) increasing the property tax base; and (iii) through the 
development of an approximately 170 acre area, in two phases, to support residential development 

- 2 -
4892-4037-1007.I 



including single-family residential housing, along with townhomes, duplexes, condominiums and 
apartments, allowing more residents the opportunity to live and work within the City. 

Section 4. The Commission now finds and determines that the amendments described 
in Section 1 above are reasonable and appropriate when considered in relation to the Area 
Resolution as amended by this amending resolution and to the economic development and 
redevelopment purposes set forth in IC 36-7-14. The Commission finds that the Projects constitute 
local public improvements and that the Area Resolution and the Housing Program conform to the 
comprehensive plan for the City. 

Section 5. The Southeast A llocation Area shall maintain its original base assessment 
date and the Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area shall have a base assessment date of 
January 1, 2023. 

Section 6. The allocation provision in effect when the Southeast Allocation Area was 
designated as a part of the Original Allocation Area shall continue to apply to the reduced 
Southeast Allocation Area. 

Section 7. This paragraph shall be considered the allocation prov1s10n for the 
Southeast Housing TIF A llocation Area for purposes of IC 36-7-14-39. The entire Southeast 
Housing TIF Allocation Area shall constitute an allocation area as defined in IC 36-7-14-39. Any 
property taxes levied on or after the effective date of this resolution by or for the benefit of any 
public body entitled to a distribution of property taxes on taxable property in the Southeast Housing 
TIF Allocation Area shall be allocated and distributed in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39 or any 
applicable successor provision. This allocation provision shall expire no later than 25 years after 
the date on which the first obligation is incurred to pay principal and interest on bonds or lease 
rentals on leases payable from tax increment revenue generated in the Southeast Housing TIF 
Allocation Area. 

Section 8. The Redevelopment Director is instructed to submit this resolution to the 
Goshen Plan Commission ("Plan Commission") for approval. 

Section 9. The Commission also directs the Redevelopment Director, after receipt of 
the written order of approval of the Plan Commission which has been approved by the Common 
Council, to publish notice of the adoption and substance of this resolution in accordance with IC 
5-3-1-4 and to file notice with the Plan Commission, the Board of Zoning Appeals, the building 
commissioner and any other departments or agencies of the City concerned with unit planning, 
zoning variances, land use or the issuance of building permits. The notice must state that maps 
and plats have been prepared and can be inspected at the office of the City's department of 
redevelopment and must establish a date when the Commission will receive and hear 
remonstrances and objections from persons interested in or affected by the proceedings pertaining 
to the proposed amendments to the Original Allocation Area and will determine the public utility 
and benefit of the proposed Projects and the amendments to the Original Allocation Area. 

Section 10. The Commission also directs the Redevelopment Director to prepare or 
cause to be prepared a statement disclosing the impact of creating the Southeast Housing TIF 
Allocation Area including the following: 

- 3 -
4892-4037-1007. l 



(a) The estimated economic benefits and costs incurred, as measured by 
increased employment and anticipated growth of real property, personal property and 
inventory assessed values; and 

(b) The anticipated impact on tax revenues of each taxing unit that is either 
wholly or partly located within the new Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area. 

A copy of this statement shall be filed with each such taxing unit with a copy of the notice required 
under Section 17 of the Act at least 10 days before the date of the hearing described in Section 9 
of this Resolution. 

Section 11. The Commission hereby finds that the creation of the Southeast Housing 
TIF Allocation Area will result in new property taxes that would not have been generated without 
this new allocation provision because the construction of road infrastructure, utility infrastructure 
and sidewalks needed to support the proposed development set forth in the Housing Program are 
required by the developer to construct new residential housing and the tax increment generated by 
the new residential housing is needed to fund construction of the Projects. 

Section 12. The Commission hereby finds that the initial estimated costs of the Projects 
to be funded by the Commission through the pledge of tax increment from the Southeast Housing 
TIF Allocation Area is in the approximate amount of $20,000,000. 

Section 13. The Commission hereby finds that all property in the Southeast Housing 
TIF Allocation Area will positively benefit from the Projects. 

Section 14. In all other respects the Area Resolution and the Original Plan are hereby 
ratified and confirmed. 

Section 15. This resolution is effective upon passage. 

- 4 -
4892-4037-1007. l 



Adopted at a meeting of the Commission held December 13, 2022 in Goshen, Indiana. 

GOSHEN REDEVELOPMENT COM:tvUSSION 

Secretary 

~~r;o~~ 

Member 
Attest: 

Secretary 

- 5 -
4892-4037-1007. l 



4892-403 7-1007.1 

EXHIBIT A 

Map of Southeast Economic Development Area and 
Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area 

(Attached) 



Exhibit A 
Reduced Southeast Allocation Area & New Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area 

Information as of 
December 13, 2022 

The City of Goshen's Olgital Data is the property of the City ot Goshen and Elkhart County, lndana. All graphic data supplied by the city and county has been derived from public records lhat a,e constandy 
oodergoing change and is not warranted for content or accuracy. The city and county do not guarantee the positional or thematic accuracy o f the data. The cartographic digital fdes are not a legal representation of 
any of the features depicted, and the city and county dsclaim any Sumption of the legal status they represent Arly implied warranties, indoding warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particUar purpose, 
shall be expressly excluded. The data represents an actual reproduction of data oonlained in the city's or county's oompute1 fdes. This data may be iocomplete orinaocurate, and is subject to modifications and 
changes. City of Goshen and Elkhart County caMol be held liable for errors or omissions in the data. The 1eclpjent's use and reliance upon such data is al the recipient's risk. By using this data, the recipient 
agrees to proted, hold harmless and indemnify the City of Goshen and Elkhart County and its employees and officers. This indemnity covers reasonable attorney fees Eltld all court costs associated 'Mth the defense 
ol the c· and coun arisin out of this disclalmer_ 

Feet 

0 550 1,100 

I I I I I I 
2,200 

I I 

1 inch= 2,000 feet 

The City of Goshen 
Department of Public Works & Safety 

Office of Engineering 
204 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, lndana 46528 

Phone: 574-534-2201 Fa)(: 574-533-8626 



Purpose and Introduction. 

EXHIBITB 

Housing Development Program 
Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area 

Goshen Redevelopment Commission 

This document is the Housing Development Program required by IC 36-7-14-53(6) 
("Program") for the Southeast Housing TIF Allocation Area ("Housing Allocation Area") for the 
City of Goshen, Indiana ("City") and is set forth as the basis for conducting a public meeting or 
meetings in the area or areas to be affected by the Program prior to formal submittal for approval. 
It is intended for approval by the Common Council of the City, the School Board of Goshen 
Community Schools and the Goshen Redevelopment Commission ("Commission") in 
conformance with IC 36-7-14-53. 

Program Objectives. 

The purposes of the Program are to: (i) benefit the public health and welfare of the citizens 
of the City by providing additional housing options to attract new residents to the community and 
retain existing residents that are looking for new hous ing options in their community; (ii) increase 
the property tax base; and (iii) through the development of an approximately 170 acre area, in two 
phases, to suppoti residential development including single family residential housing along with 
townhomes, duplexes, condominiums and apa1iments, allowing more residents the oppo1iunity to 
live and work within the City. 

Program Criteria. 

In the previous three (3) calendar years only 109 new single-family homes have been 
constructed in the City. No new neighborhood developments have been undertaken by private 
enterprise. Single family housing development has been stagnant in the City and in order to spur 
significant growth in this area it will require assistance with required infrastructure to encourage 
private development. 

Phase I of the proposed development will include single-family and multi-family 
residential housing across approximately 75 acres. 

Project Description. 

The implementation of the Housing Program requires the construction of road 
improvements, utility improvements, sidewalks and any and all related public improvements and 
may include the capital improvements described as follows (collectively, "Projects"): 

( 1) Construction or reconstruction of roads and bridges 
(2) Site preparation and excavation; 
(3) Construct or repair water towers; 
( 4) Construction or reconstruction of water or sewer treatment system; 
(5) Construction, reconstruction or extension of sewer infrastructure; 

B - 1 
4892-4037-1007. I 



(6) Construction, reconstruction or extension of water infrastructure; 
(7) Construction or reconstruction of storm water drainage systems; 
(8) Utility relocation; 
(9) Construction or reconstruction of buffer zones/mounding; 
(10) Purchase or lease of public safety or public works equipment or facilities, which 

w ill serve the Area; 
(11) Parking facilities and lighting for parking areas; 
(12) Recreational facilities, including but not limited to, pedestrian trails and pedestrian 

bridges to improve the quality of place for citizens in the Area. 

All Projects will be in or physically connected to the Southeast Economic Development 
Area and required to serve the Housing Allocation Area. 

Acquisition of Property. 

The Commission has no present plans to acquire any interests in real property. 

The Commission may not exercise the power of eminent domain in implementing the 
Program. 

Procedures with respect to the Projects. 

All contracts for material or labor in the accomplishment of the Projects shall, to the extent 
required by law, be let under IC 36-1-12. 

Any construction work required by the Commission in connection with the Projects may 
be carried out by the appropriate municipal department or agency. The Commission may carry 
out the construction work if all plans, specifications, and drawings are approved by the appropriate 
department or agency and the statutory procedures for the letting of the contracts by the appropriate 
department or agency are followed by the Commission. 

The Commission may pay any charges or assessments made on account of orders, approval, 
consents, and construction work with respect to the Projects or may agree to pay these assessments 
in installments as provided by statute in the case of private owners. 

Financing of the Projects. 

It is the intention of the Commission to issue bonds payable from incremental ad valorem 
property taxes allocated under IC 36-7-14-39 and -56 in order to raise money for completion of 
the Projects in the Housing Allocation Area. The amount of these bonds may not exceed the total, 
as estimated by the Commission of all expenses reasonably incurred in connection with the 
Projects, including: 

(a) 
developed; 

4892-4037-1007.1 

The total cost of all land, rights-of-way, and other property to be acquired and 

B-2 



(b) All reasonable and necessary architectural, engineering, construction, equipment, 
legal, financing, accounting, advertising, bond discount and supervisory expenses related to the 
acquisition and development of the Projects or the issuance of bonds; 

(c) Capitalized interest on the bonds (not to exceed 5 years from the date of issuance) 
and a debt service reserve for the bonds to the extent the Commission determines that a reserve is 
reasonably required; and 

(d) Expenses that the Commission is required or permitted to pay under IC 8-23-17. 

In the issuance of bonds the Commission will comply with IC 36-7-14-25.1. 

As an alternative to bonds issued by the Commission, the Commission may pledge tax 
increment pursuant to IC 36-7-14-39(b)(2)(D) to any bonds issued by the City. 

Amendment of the Program. 

By following the procedures specified in IC 36-7-14-17.5, the Commission may amend the 
Program for the Housing Allocation Area. However, any enlargement of the boundaries of the 
Housing Allocation Area must be approved by the Common Council. 

B - 3 
4892-4037-1007.l 



GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 

RESOLUTION 2023‐02 

Approving a Loan to LaCasa of Goshen, Inc. 

 from the Local Major Moves Construction Fund 

WHEREAS, the City of Goshen has established a fund known as the Local Major Moves 

Construction Fund; 

WHEREAS, the Local Major Moves Construction Fund currently has a balance of Four 

Million Five Hundred Sixty‐One Thousand Five Hundred Thirty‐Seven and 34/100 Dollars 

($4,561,537.34); 

WHEREAS, funds in the City’s Local Major Moves Construction Fund may be expended 

as authorized by Indiana Code § 8‐14‐16‐5, as amended from time to time; 

WHEREAS, I.C. § 8‐14‐16‐5 allows the City to expend funds in the Local Major Moves 

Construction Fund to provide funding for economic development projects defined in I.C. § 6‐

3.6‐2‐8(1) or I.C. § 6‐3.6‐2‐8(2)(A)‐(K); 

WHEREAS, LaCasa of Goshen, Inc. (“LaCasa”) seeks assistance from the City of Goshen 

in the form of partial funding of water and sewer utility infrastructure improvements that 

LaCasa will require during the construction of up to 6, 8‐unit buildings for permanent 

supportive housing over the next ten (10) years to be located on real property owned by 

Oaklawn Psychiatric Center, Inc. (“Oaklawn”) at 302 Lakeview Drive; 

WHEREAS, the cost of the water and sewer utility infrastructure improvements 

contemplated is expected to exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00);  

WHEREAS, the use of funds from the City’s Local Major Moves Construction Fund to 

help pay for water and sewer utility infrastructure improvements at Oaklawn’s real property 

for the benefit of the LaCasa construction project complies with the standard of I.C. § 8‐14‐16‐5; 

and 

  WHEREAS, the Goshen Common Council seeks to now authorize a loan from the Local 

Major Moves Construction Fund to LaCasa to help pay for water and sewer Utility 

infrastructure improvements on real property owned by Oaklawn at 302 Lakeview Drive 

necessitated by LaCasa’s construction of 6, 8‐unit buildings for permanent supportive housing 

in an amount not to exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00). 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that: 

1. The Goshen Common Council approves a loan to LaCasa of Goshen, Inc from the 

Local Major Moves Construction Fund in an amount not to exceed Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($500,000.00). 

2. The Goshen Common Council approves the loan under the following conditions: 



a. No interest shall accrue during the first two (2) years of the loan, after 

which interest shall accrue; 

b. No payments shall be due until construction of the second 8‐unit is 

complete, after which payments shall be made by LaCasa on a quarterly basis; 

c. Funds shall be disbursed to LaCasa upon presentment to the City of 

qualifying invoices from the construction of the water and sewer infrastructure facilities; 

d. Upon completion of each 8‐unit building, the City shall forgive a 

principal amount of Eighty‐Three Thousand Three Hundred Thirty‐Three and 33/100 

Dollars ($83,333.33). 

3. The City of Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety and City staff are 

authorized to negotiate the terms of a final agreement with LaCasa, and the Board of Public 

Works and Safety is authorized to enter into a formal loan agreement with LaCasa, consistent 

with the terms of this resolution and negotiations that take place.  

4. The City of Goshen commits to pay from its General Fund into the Local Major 

Moves Construction Fund amounts of the loan to LaCasa that are forgiven, beginning in the 

2024 budget at the earliest. 

The Resolution is PASSED by the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana on 

the _______day of January, 2023. 

 

 

 

                         

                Presiding Officer 

ATTEST: 

 

 

             

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk‐Treasurer 

 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on January _____, 2023, at the hour of 

_____:_____ ___.m. 

 

 

                         

              Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk‐Treasurer 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on January _____, 2023. 

 

 

                         

                Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



1 

GOSHEN COMMON COUNCIL 
RESOLUTION 2023-03 

 
Acquisition of Real Estate at 
1402 West Wilden Avenue 

 
WHEREAS the City of Goshen wishes to acquire certain real estate more commonly known as 1402 West 
Wilden Avenue, Goshen for use by the Waste Water Treatment Plant. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Goshen Common Council that the City of Goshen is 
interested in purchasing certain real estate more commonly known as 1402 West Wilden Avenue, Goshen 
as depicted on the map below. 
 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the purchase price for the real estate shall not be greater than the 
average of two appraisals of the fair market value of the real estate, and the acquisition shall be subject to 
the terms and conditions of a written agreement between the seller of the real estate and City as approved 
by the Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety. 
 
  



PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2023. 
 
             
       Presiding Officer 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2023, at the hour of 
_____:_____ ___.m. 
 
             
       Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 
 
APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2023. 
 
             
       Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 


	00-A-2023-1-23-Council-agenda
	00-B-2022-12-19 Council-minutes
	00-C-2022-12-27 Council-minutes
	3-2023-1-23  Board-Commission appointments
	01.01.23 Combined applications.pdf
	10.04.22 Sharon Beechy
	10.27.22 Pete Weddell
	10.29.22 Ryan Smith
	11.15.22 Adam Knott
	11.15.22 Andrea Johnson
	11.15.22 Jonathan Graber
	11.15.22 Joshua Barba
	11.15.22 Joshua Munson
	11.15.22 Nathaniel Klink
	12.02.22 Eusebio Pantoja
	12.15.2022 Brett Weddell


	4-2023-1-23  Stormwater User Fee Ordinance 2nd Reading
	5-2023-1-23 Resolution 2023-01 Approval of Plan Commission Order
	6-2023-1-23 Res. 2023-02 Approving Local Major Moves Loan_LaCasa_final
	7-2023-1-23 Res. 2023-03 Acquisition of Real Estate at 1402 W. Wilden Ave



